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CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX TO APPELLANT/CROSS-RESPONDENT  

 TODD B. JAKSICK’S APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEF  

 

DOCUMENT DATE 

FILED or 

ADMITTED 

VOL. 

NO. 

PAGE NO. 

 

Petition for Confirmation of Trustee 

and Admission of Trust to the 

Jurisdiction of the Court, and for 

Approval of Accountings and other 

Trust Administration Matters (SSJ’s 

Issue Trust) 

8.2.17 1 TJA000001-000203 

Petition for Confirmation of 

Trustees and Admission of Trust to 

the Jurisdiction of the Court, and 

For Approval of Accountings and 

Other Trust Administration Matters 

(Family Trust) (Separated)  

8.2.17 2 TJA000204-000401 

Petition for Confirmation of 

Trustees and Admission of Trust to 

the Jurisdiction of the Court, and 

For Approval of Accountings and 

Other Trust Administration Matters 

(Family Trust) (Separated) 

8.2.17 3 TJA00402-00585 

Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Opposition and Objection to Petition 

10.10.17 4 TJA000586-000594 



for Confirmation of Trustees and 

Admission of Trust to the 

Jurisdiction of the Court, and for 

Approval of Accountings and Other 

Trust Administration Matters 

(Family Trust)  

Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Answer to Petition for Approval of 

Accounting and Other Trust 

Administration Matters (Family 

Trust) 

10.10.17 4 TJA000595-000601 

Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Answer to Petition for Approval of 

Accounting and Other Trust 

Administration Matters (Issue Trust) 

10.10.17 4 TJA000602-000606 

Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Opposition and Objection to Petition 

for Confirmation of Trustees and 

Admission of Trust to the 

Jurisdiction of the Court, and for 

Approval of Accountings and Other 

Trust Administration Matters (Issue 

Trust) 

10.10.17 4 TJA000607-000614  

Commissioner’s Recommendation 

Referring Cases to Probate Judge  

10.12.17 4 TJA000615-000617  

Order Accepting Transfer  10.17.17 4 TJA000618-000620 



Notice of Appearance (Todd B. 

Jaksick, individually)  

11.3.17 4 TJA000621-000623 

Association of Counsel  1.2.18 4 TJA000624-000625 

Demand for Jury  1.3.18 4 TJA000626-000628 

Order Granting Consolidation  1.5.18  4 TJA000629-000631 

Counter-Petition to Surcharge 

Trustees for Breach of Fiduciary 

Duties, for Removal of Trustees and 

Appointment of Independent 

Trustee(s), and for Declaratory 

Judgment and other Relief  

1.19.18 4 TJA000632-000671  

Association of Counsel  2.23.18  4 TJA000672-000692  

Association of Counsel  2.23.18 4 TJA000693-000712 

First Amended Counter-Petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, for Removal of 

Trustee(s), and for Declaratory 

Judgment and Other Relief  

2.23.18  4 TJA000713-000752 

Order Associating Counsel  3.13.18  4 TJA000753-000754 

Order Associating Counsel  3.13.18  4 TJA000755-000756 

Notice of Entry of Order  3.13.18  4 TJA000757-000761 

Notice of Entry of Order  3.13.18  4 TJA000762-000766 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Answer and 

Objections to First Amended 

Counter-Petition to Surcharge 

Trustees for Breach of Fiduciary 

4.9.18  4 TJA000767-000779 



Duties, For Removal of Trustees 

and Appointment of Independent 

Trustee(s) and For Declaratory 

Judgment and Other Relief  

Todd B. Jaksick’s and Michael S. 

Kimmel’s Answer to First Amended 

Counter-Petition to Surcharge 

Trustees for Breach of Fiduciary 

Duties, For Removal of Trustees 

and Appointment of Independent 

Trustees, and for Declaratory 

Judgment and Other Relief  

4.13.18  4 TJA000780-000795 

Notice of Appearance  4.17.18  4 TJA000796-000799 

Kevin Riley’s Answer to First 

Amended Counter-Petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, For Removal of 

Trustees and Appointment of 

Independent Trustee(s), and For 

Declaratory Judgment and Other 

Relief  

4.17.18  5 TJA000800-000815  

Errata to Todd B. Jaksick’s and 

Michael S. Kimmel’s Answer to 

First Amended Counter-Petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, For Removal of 

4.19.18  5 TJA000816-000819 



Trustees and Appointment of 

Independent Trustees, and for 

Declaratory Judgment and Other 

Relief 

Errata to Kevin Riley’s Answer to 

First Amended Counter-Petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, For Removal of 

Trustees and Appointment of 

Independent Trustees, and for 

Declaratory Judgment and Other 

Relief 

4.19.18 5 TJA000820-000823 

Notice of Appearance  6.4.18  5 TJA000824-000827  

Notice of Appearance  6.4.18 5 TJA000828-000831 

Stanley S. Jaksick’s Answer to First 

Amended Counter-petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, For Removal of 

Trustees and Appointment of 

Independent Trustee(s), and for 

Declaratory Judgment and Other 

Relief  

8.2.18  5 TJA000832-000844 

Joinder to Stanley S. Jaksick’s 

Answer to First Amended Counter-

petition to Surcharge Trustees for 

Breach of Fiduciary Duties, For 

8.7.18 5 TJA000845-000847 



Removal of Trustees and 

Appointment of Independent 

Trustee(s), and for Declaratory 

Judgment and Other Relief  

Wendy Jaksick’s Motion for Leave 

to Join Indispensable Parties  

11.15.18  5 TJA000848-000855 

Todd B. Jaksick’s, Individually, 

Opposition to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Motion for Leave to Join 

Indispensable Parties  

12.6.18  5 TJA000856-000872 

Opposition to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Motion for Leave to Join 

Indispensable Parties  

12.6.18  5 TJA000873-000876 

Petitioner’s Opposition to Wendy 

Jaksick’s Motion for Leave to Join 

Indispensable Parties  

12.6.18  5 TJA000877-000898 

Wendy Jaksick’s Omnibus Reply in 

Support of Motion for Leave to Join 

Indispensable Parties  

12.17.18  5 TJA000899-000933 

Request for Submission of Wendy 

A. Jaksick’s Motion for Leave to 

Join Indispensable Parties  

12.18.18  5 TJA000934-000936 

Order Granting in Part and Denying 

in Part Motion for Leave to Join 

Indispensable Parties  

1.16.19 5 TJA000937-000948 

Pre-Trial Order Regarding Trial 1.22.19 5 TJA000949-000953 



Scheduled  

Verdicts  3.4.19 5 TJA000954-000957 

Motion for Order Awarding Costs 

and Attorneys’ Fees for Todd 

Jaksick, Individually, Duck Lake 

Ranch, LLC, and Incline TSS, Ltd.  

3.13.19 6 TJA000958-001157 

Petitioner Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Opposition to Motion for Attorney 

Fees  

3.25.19 6 TJA001158-001175 

Reply in Support of Motion for 

Order Awarding Costs and 

Attorneys’ Fees for Todd Jaksick, 

Individually, Duck Lake Ranch, 

LLC and Incline TSS, Ltd.   

4.1.19 7 TJA001176-001185 

Request for Submission of Motion 

for Order Awarding Costs and 

Attorneys’ Fees  

4.1.19 7 TJA001186-001189 

Trial Transcript  5.13.19 7 TJA001190-001202 

Order Addressing Evidence at 

Equitable Trial  

5.20.19  7 TJA001203-001274 

Stanley Jaksick’s Written Closing 

Arguments  

7.1.19  7 TJA001275-001281 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Closing 

Argument Brief  

7.1.19 7 TJA001282-001362 

Wendy Jaksick’s Brief of Opening 

Arguments in the Equitable Claims 

7.1.19 8 TJA001363-001470 



Trial  

Petitioner’s Trial Brief on Equitable 

Claims  

7.1.19 8 TJA001471-001535 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Closing 

Argument Brief  

7.31.19  9 TJA001536-001623 

Petitioner’s Reply to Wendy 

Jaksick’s Trial Brief on Equitable 

Claims  

7.31.19 9 TJA001624-001661 

Wendy Jaksick’s Brief of Closing 

Arguments in the Equitable Claims 

Trial  

7.31.19 10 TJA001662-001757 

Stanley Jaksick’s Written Closing 

Reply Brief  

7.31.19 11 TJA001758-001977 

Order for Supplemental Briefing  2.6.20  12 TJA001978-001979 

Todd Jaksick’s Supplemental Brief 

in Response to the Court’s February 

6, 2020 Order for Supplemental 

Briefing  

2.18.20 12 TJA001980-002043 

Trustees’ Supplemental Brief  2.18.20  12 TJA002044-002077 

Supplemental Brief by Stanley 

Jaksick, Co-Trustee of the Samuel 

S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust  

2.18.20 12 TJA002078-002085 

Wendy Jaksick’s Supplemental 

Brief in the Equitable Claims Trial  

2.25.20 12 TJA002086-002093 

Order After Equitable Trial  3.12.20 12 TJA002094-002118 

Notice of Entry of Order  3.17.20  12 TJA002119-002146 



Memorandum of Costs  3.17.20  12 TJA002147-002164 

Verified Memorandum of Costs  3.23.20  13 TJA002165-002189 

Todd Jaksick’s Motion to Strike 

Wendy Jaksick’s Verified 

Memorandum of Costs or, in the 

Alternative, Motion to Retax Costs  

3.25.20 13 TJA002190-002194 

Motion to Strike Verified 

Memorandum of Costs  

3.26.20  13 TJA002195-002215 

Motion to Retax Costs and Joinder 

to Motions to Strike  

3.26.20  13 TJA002216-002219 

Judgment on Verdict and Order 

After Equitable Trial  

4.1.20  13 TJA002220-002254 

Notice of Entry of Judgment  4.1.20  13 TJA002255-002292 

Petitioners’ Verified Memorandum 

of Costs and Disbursements  

4.2.20  14 TJA002293-002409 

Memorandum of Costs and 

Disbursements  

4.2.20  14 TJA002410-002430 

Memorandum of Costs and 

Disbursements  

4.2.20  14 TJA002431-002442 

Joinder to Memorandum of Costs  4.6.20  14 TJA002443-002445 

Wendy Jaksick’s Response to Todd 

Jaksick’s Motion to Strike Wendy 

Jaksick’s Verified Memorandum of 

Costs, or in the Alternative, Motion 

to Retax Costs  

4.8.20  14 TJA002446-002450 

Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and 4.9.20  15 TJA002451-002615 



Costs – Kevin Riley  

Motion for Attorney’s Fees and 

Costs – Michael Kimmel  

4.9.20 16 TJA002616-002769 

Omnibus Opposition to Motions to 

Strike Wendy Jaksick’s Verified 

Memorandum of Costs filed by 

Trustees  

4.9.20  16 TJA002770-002776 

Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs 

for Todd Jaksick, Individually, for 

Trial on Equitable Claims  

4.10.20  16 TJA002777-002833 

Reply in Support of Motion to 

Strike Verified Memorandum of 

Costs  

4.13.20  17 TJA002834-002841 

Request for Submission  4.13.20  17 TJA002842-002845 

Order Denying Wendy Jaksick’s 

Costs  

4.21.20 17 TJA002846-002847 

Notice of Entry of Order  4.21.20  17 TJA002848-002857 

Memorandum of Attorney’s Fees by 

Stanley Jaksick, as Co-Trustee of 

the Family Trust  

4.22.20  17 TJA002858-002910 

Request for Submission  4.22.20 17 TJA002911-002913 

Opposition to Motion for Attorney’s 

Fees and Costs of Michael Kimmel, 

Individually and as Co-Trustee  

4.23.20  17 TJA002914-002930 

Opposition to Motion for Attorney’s 

Fees and Costs of Kevin Riley, 

4.23.20 17 TJA002931-002946 



Individually and as Co-Trustee of 

the Family Trust and as Trustee of 

the BHC Family Trust  

Opposition to Motion for Order 

Awarding Costs and Attorney’s 

Fees for Todd Jaksick, Individually 

on Equitable Claims  

4.24.20  17 TJA002947-002985 

Opposition and Motion to Strike 

Memorandum of Attorney’s Fees by 

Stanley Jaksick as Co-Trustee of the 

Family Trust  

4.27.20  17 TJA002986-002992 

Motion to Alter or Amend the 

Judgment  

4.28.20 17 TJA002993-003000 

Trial Transcript  5.13.19 17 TJA001190-001202 

Order Regarding Costs  4.30.20 18 TJA003044-003045 

Motion to Alter or Amend 

Judgment, or Alternatively, Motion 

for New Trial  

4.30.20 18 TJA003046-003113 

Reply in Support of Motion for 

Attorney’s Fees and Costs   

5.1.20  18 TJA003114-003126 

Request for Submission  5.1.20  18 TJA003127-003130 

Reply to Opposition to Motion for 

Order Awarding Costs and 

Attorney’s Fees for Todd Jaksick, 

Individually, For Trial on Equitable 

Claims  

5.1.20  18 TJA003131-003147 



Request for Submission  5.1.20  18 TJA003148-003151 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Opposition to 

Wendy Jaksick’s Motion to Alter or 

Amend Judgment, or, Alternatively, 

Motion for a New Trial  

5.8.20 18 TJA003152-003189 

Limited Joinder to Todd B. 

Jaksick’s Opposition to Wendy 

Jaksick’s Motion to Alter or Amend 

Judgment, or, Alternatively, Motion 

for a New Trial 

5.12.20 18 TJA003190-003196 

Opposition to Alter or Amend the 

Judgment Award of Attorney’s Fees 

to Wendy  

5.12.20  18 TJA003197-003205 

Supplemental Motion in Support of 

Award of Attorney’s Fees to Wendy 

Jaksick’s Attorneys  

5.12.20 19 TJA003206-003324 

Opposition to Todd B. Jaksick’s 

Motion to Amend the Judgment  

5.13.20  19 TJA003325-003339 

Opposition to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Motion to Alter or Amend 

Judgment, or in the Alternative, 

Motion for New Trial  

5.13.20  19 TJA003340-003344 

Reply to Wendy Jaksick’s Amended 

Opposition and Motion to Strike 

Stanley Jaksick’s Verified 

Memorandum of Attorney’s Fees as 

5.13.20  19 TJA003345-003348 



Co-Trustee of the Family Trust  

Wendy Jaksick’s Reply in Support 

of her Motion to Alter or Amend 

Judgment, or, Alternatively, Motion 

for New Trial  

5.15.20 19 TJA003349-003357 

Request for Submission  5.18.20  19 TJA003358-003365 

Reply in Support of Motion to Alter 

or Amend Judgment   

5.19.20 19 TJA003366-003372 

Request for Submission  5.19.20  19 TJA003373-003376 

Motion to Strike Wendy’s 

Supplemental Motion in Support of 

Award of Attorney’s Fees to Wendy 

Jaksick’s Attorneys  

5.19.20  19 TJA003377-003381 

Reply in Support of Todd B. 

Jaksick’s, Individually, Motion to 

Amend the Judgment  

5.19.20  20 TJA003382-003452 

Request for Submission  5.19.20 20 TJA003453-003456 

Order Awarding Costs  5.19.20  20 TJA003457 

Notice of Entry of Order  5.20.20  20 TJA003458-003461 

Petitioner’s Verified Memorandum 

of Attorney’s Fees  

5.21.20  21 TJA003462-003608 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Opposition to 

Wendy Jaksick’s Supplemental 

Motion in Support of Award of 

Attorney’s Fees  

5.21.20 21 TJA003609-003617 

Joinder to Todd B. Jaksick’s 6.1.20  21 TJA003618-003621 



Opposition to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Supplemental Motion  

Opposition to Motion to Strike 

Wendy’s Supplemental Motion in 

Support of Award of Attorney’s 

Fees to Wendy Jaksick’s Attorneys  

6.1.20  21 TJA003622-003627 

Reply in Support of Motion to 

Strike Wendy’s Supplemental 

Motion in Support of Award of 

Attorney’s Fees to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Attorneys  

6.8.20  21 TJA003628-003634 

Request for Submission  6.8.20  21 TJA003635-003638 

Order Resolving Submitted Matters  6.10.20  22 TJA003639-003646 

Notice of Appeal  7.10.20  22 TJA003647-003650 

Case Appeal Statement  7.10.20  22 TJA003651-003657 

Notice of Appeal  7.10.20  22 TJA003658-003661 

Case Appeal Statement  7.10.20  22 TJA003662-003669 

Notice of Appeal  7.13.20  22 TJA003670-003677 

Case Appeal Statement  7.13.20  22 TJA003678-003680 

Notice of Cross Appeal  7.21.20  22 TJA003681-003777 

Case Appeal Statement  7.21.20 22 TJA003778-003790 

Amended Judgment 7.6.20 22 TJA003791-003811 

 

 

 

 

 



ALPHABETICAL INDEX TO APPELLANT/CROSS-RESPONDENT  

 TODD B. JAKSICK’S APPENDIX TO OPENING BRIEF  

 

DOCUMENT DATE FILED 

or ADMITTED 

VOL. 

NO. 

PAGE NO. 

 

Amended Judgment 7.6.20 22 TJA003791-003811 

Association of Counsel  1.2.18 4 TJA000624-000625 

Association of Counsel  2.23.18  4 TJA000672-000692  

Association of Counsel  2.23.18 4 TJA000693-000712 

Case Appeal Statement  7.10.20  22 TJA003651-003657 

Case Appeal Statement  7.10.20  22 TJA003662-003669 

Case Appeal Statement  7.13.20  22 TJA003678-003680 

Case Appeal Statement  7.21.20 22 TJA003778-003790 

Commissioner’s Recommendation 

Referring Cases to Probate Judge  

10.12.17 4 TJA000615-000617  

Counter-Petition to Surcharge 

Trustees for Breach of Fiduciary 

Duties, for Removal of Trustees 

and Appointment of Independent 

Trustee(s), and for Declaratory 

Judgment and other Relief  

1.19.18 4 TJA000632-000671  

Demand for Jury  1.3.18 4 TJA000626-000628 

Errata to Kevin Riley’s Answer to 

First Amended Counter-Petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, For Removal of 

4.19.18 5 TJA000820-000823 



Trustees and Appointment of 

Independent Trustees, and for 

Declaratory Judgment and Other 

Relief 

Errata to Todd B. Jaksick’s and 

Michael S. Kimmel’s Answer to 

First Amended Counter-Petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, For Removal of 

Trustees and Appointment of 

Independent Trustees, and for 

Declaratory Judgment and Other 

Relief 

4.19.18  5 TJA000816-000819 

First Amended Counter-Petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, for Removal of 

Trustee(s), and for Declaratory 

Judgment and Other Relief  

2.23.18  4 TJA000713-000752 

Joinder to Memorandum of Costs  4.6.20  14 TJA002443-002445 

Joinder to Stanley S. Jaksick’s 

Answer to First Amended 

Counter-petition to Surcharge 

Trustees for Breach of Fiduciary 

Duties, For Removal of Trustees 

and Appointment of Independent 

Trustee(s), and for Declaratory 

8.7.18 5 TJA000845-000847 



Judgment and Other Relief  

Joinder to Todd B. Jaksick’s 

Opposition to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Supplemental Motion  

6.1.20  21 TJA003618-003621 

Judgment on Verdict and Order 

After Equitable Trial  

4.1.20  13 TJA002220-002254 

Kevin Riley’s Answer to First 

Amended Counter-Petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, For Removal of 

Trustees and Appointment of 

Independent Trustee(s), and For 

Declaratory Judgment and Other 

Relief  

4.17.18  5 TJA000800-000815  

Limited Joinder to Todd B. 

Jaksick’s Opposition to Wendy 

Jaksick’s Motion to Alter or 

Amend Judgment, or, 

Alternatively, Motion for a New 

Trial 

5.12.20 18 TJA003190-003196 

Memorandum of Attorney’s Fees 

by Stanley Jaksick, as Co-Trustee 

of the Family Trust  

4.22.20  17 TJA002858-002910 

Memorandum of Costs  3.17.20  12 TJA002147-002164 

Memorandum of Costs and 

Disbursements  

4.2.20  14 TJA002410-002430 



Memorandum of Costs and 

Disbursements  

4.2.20  14 TJA002431-002442 

Motion for Attorney Fees and 

Costs for Todd Jaksick, 

Individually, for Trial on 

Equitable Claims  

4.10.20  16 TJA002777-002833 

Motion for Attorney’s Fees and 

Costs – Michael Kimmel  

4.9.20 16 TJA002616-002769 

Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and 

Costs – Kevin Riley  

4.9.20  15 TJA002451-002615 

Motion for Order Awarding Costs 

and Attorneys’ Fees for Todd 

Jaksick, Individually, Duck Lake 

Ranch, LLC, and Incline TSS, 

Ltd.  

3.13.19 6 TJA000958-001157 

Motion to Alter or Amend 

Judgment, or Alternatively, 

Motion for New Trial  

4.30.20 18 TJA003046-003113 

Motion to Alter or Amend the 

Judgment  

4.28.20 17 TJA002993-003000 

Motion to Retax Costs and Joinder 

to Motions to Strike  

3.26.20  13 TJA002216-002219 

Motion to Strike Verified 

Memorandum of Costs  

3.26.20  13 TJA002195-002215 

Motion to Strike Wendy’s 

Supplemental Motion in Support 

5.19.20  19 TJA003377-003381 



of Award of Attorney’s Fees to 

Wendy Jaksick’s Attorneys  

Notice of Appeal  7.10.20  22 TJA003647-003650 

Notice of Appeal  7.10.20  22 TJA003658-003661 

Notice of Appeal  7.13.20  22 TJA003670-003677 

Notice of Appearance  6.4.18  5 TJA000824-000827  

Notice of Appearance  6.4.18 5 TJA000828-000831 

Notice of Appearance  4.17.18  4 TJA000796-000799 

Notice of Appearance (Todd B. 

Jaksick, individually)  

11.3.17 4 TJA000621-000623 

Notice of Cross Appeal  7.21.20  22 TJA003681-003777 

Notice of Entry of Judgment  4.1.20  13 TJA002255-002292 

Notice of Entry of Order  3.13.18  4 TJA000757-000761 

Notice of Entry of Order  3.13.18  4 TJA000762-000766 

Notice of Entry of Order  3.17.20  12 TJA002119-002146 

Notice of Entry of Order  4.21.20  17 TJA002848-002857 

Notice of Entry of Order  5.20.20  20 TJA003458-003461 

Omnibus Opposition to Motions 

to Strike Wendy Jaksick’s 

Verified Memorandum of Costs 

filed by Trustees  

4.9.20  16 TJA002770-002776 

Opposition and Motion to Strike 

Memorandum of Attorney’s Fees 

by Stanley Jaksick as Co-Trustee 

of the Family Trust  

4.27.20  17 TJA002986-002992 

Opposition to Alter or Amend the 5.12.20  18 TJA003197-003205 



Judgment Award of Attorney’s 

Fees to Wendy  

Opposition to Motion for 

Attorney’s Fees and Costs of 

Kevin Riley, Individually and as 

Co-Trustee of the Family Trust 

and as Trustee of the BHC Family 

Trust  

4.23.20 17 TJA002931-002946 

Opposition to Motion for 

Attorney’s Fees and Costs of 

Michael Kimmel, Individually and 

as Co-Trustee  

4.23.20  17 TJA002914-002930 

Opposition to Motion for Order 

Awarding Costs and Attorney’s 

Fees for Todd Jaksick, 

Individually on Equitable Claims  

4.24.20  17 TJA002947-002985 

Opposition to Motion to Strike 

Wendy’s Supplemental Motion in 

Support of Award of Attorney’s 

Fees to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Attorneys  

6.1.20  21 TJA003622-003627 

Opposition to Todd B. Jaksick’s 

Motion to Amend the Judgment  

5.13.20  19 TJA003325-003339 

Opposition to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Motion for Leave to Join 

Indispensable Parties  

12.6.18  5 TJA000873-000876 



Opposition to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Motion to Alter or Amend 

Judgment, or in the Alternative, 

Motion for New Trial  

5.13.20  19 TJA003340-003344 

Order Accepting Transfer  10.17.17 4 TJA000618-000620 

Order Addressing Evidence at 

Equitable Trial  

5.20.19  7 TJA001203-001274 

Order After Equitable Trial  3.12.20 12 TJA002094-002118 

Order Associating Counsel  3.13.18  4 TJA000753-000754 

Order Associating Counsel  3.13.18  4 TJA000755-000756 

Order Awarding Costs  5.19.20  20 TJA003457 

Order Denying Wendy Jaksick’s 

Costs  

4.21.20 17 TJA002846-002847 

Order for Supplemental Briefing  2.6.20  12 TJA001978-001979 

Order Granting Consolidation  1.5.18  4 TJA000629-000631 

Order Granting in Part and 

Denying in Part Motion for Leave 

to Join Indispensable Parties  

1.16.19 5 TJA000937-000948 

Order Regarding Costs  4.30.20 18 TJA003044-003045 

Order Resolving Submitted 

Matters  

6.10.20  22 TJA003639-003646 

Petition for Confirmation of 

Trustee and Admission of Trust to 

the Jurisdiction of the Court, and 

for Approval of Accountings and 

other Trust Administration 

8.2.17 1 TJA000001-000203 



Matters (SSJ’s Issue Trust) 

Petition for Confirmation of 

Trustees and Admission of Trust 

to the Jurisdiction of the Court, 

and For Approval of Accountings 

and Other Trust Administration 

Matters (Family Trust) 

(Separated)  

8.2.17 2 TJA000204-000401 

Petition for Confirmation of 

Trustees and Admission of Trust 

to the Jurisdiction of the Court, 

and For Approval of Accountings 

and Other Trust Administration 

Matters (Family Trust) 

(Separated) 

8.2.17 3 TJA00402-00585 

Petitioner Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Opposition to Motion for Attorney 

Fees  

3.25.19 6 TJA001158-001175 

Petitioner’s Opposition to Wendy 

Jaksick’s Motion for Leave to Join 

Indispensable Parties  

12.6.18  5 TJA000877-000898 

Petitioner’s Reply to Wendy 

Jaksick’s Trial Brief on Equitable 

Claims  

7.31.19 9 TJA001624-001661 

Petitioner’s Trial Brief on 

Equitable Claims  

7.1.19 8 TJA001471-001535 



Petitioner’s Verified 

Memorandum of Attorney’s Fees  

5.21.20  21 TJA003462-003608 

Petitioners’ Verified 

Memorandum of Costs and 

Disbursements  

4.2.20  14 TJA002293-002409 

Pre-Trial Order Regarding Trial 

Scheduled  

1.22.19 5 TJA000949-000953 

Reply in Support of Motion for 

Attorney’s Fees and Costs   

5.1.20  18 TJA003114-003126 

Reply in Support of Motion for 

Order Awarding Costs and 

Attorneys’ Fees for Todd Jaksick, 

Individually, Duck Lake Ranch, 

LLC and Incline TSS, Ltd.   

4.1.19 7 TJA001176-001185 

Reply in Support of Motion to 

Alter or Amend Judgment   

5.19.20 19 TJA003366-003372 

Reply in Support of Motion to 

Strike Verified Memorandum of 

Costs  

4.13.20  17 TJA002834-002841 

Reply in Support of Motion to 

Strike Wendy’s Supplemental 

Motion in Support of Award of 

Attorney’s Fees to Wendy 

Jaksick’s Attorneys  

6.8.20  21 TJA003628-003634 

Reply in Support of Todd B. 

Jaksick’s, Individually, Motion to 

5.19.20  20 TJA003382-003452 



Amend the Judgment  

Reply to Opposition to Motion for 

Order Awarding Costs and 

Attorney’s Fees for Todd Jaksick, 

Individually, For Trial on 

Equitable Claims  

5.1.20  18 TJA003131-003147 

Reply to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Amended Opposition and Motion 

to Strike Stanley Jaksick’s 

Verified Memorandum of 

Attorney’s Fees as Co-Trustee of 

the Family Trust  

5.13.20  19 TJA003345-003348 

Request for Submission  4.13.20  17 TJA002842-002845 

Request for Submission  4.22.20 17 TJA002911-002913 

Request for Submission  5.1.20  18 TJA003127-003130 

Request for Submission  5.1.20  18 TJA003148-003151 

Request for Submission  5.18.20  19 TJA003358-003365 

Request for Submission  5.19.20  19 TJA003373-003376 

Request for Submission  5.19.20 20 TJA003453-003456 

Request for Submission  6.8.20  21 TJA003635-003638 

Request for Submission of Motion 

for Order Awarding Costs and 

Attorneys’ Fees  

4.1.19 7 TJA001186-001189 

Request for Submission of Wendy 

A. Jaksick’s Motion for Leave to 

Join Indispensable Parties  

12.18.18  5 TJA000934-000936 



Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Answer to Petition for Approval 

of Accounting and Other Trust 

Administration Matters (Family 

Trust) 

10.10.17 4 TJA000595-000601 

Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Answer to Petition for Approval 

of Accounting and Other Trust 

Administration Matters (Issue 

Trust) 

10.10.17 4 TJA000602-000606 

Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Opposition and Objection to 

Petition for Confirmation of 

Trustees and Admission of Trust 

to the Jurisdiction of the Court, 

and for Approval of Accountings 

and Other Trust Administration 

Matters (Family Trust)  

10.10.17 4 TJA000586-000594 

Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick’s 

Opposition and Objection to 

Petition for Confirmation of 

Trustees and Admission of Trust 

to the Jurisdiction of the Court, 

and for Approval of Accountings 

and Other Trust Administration 

Matters (Issue Trust) 

10.10.17 4 TJA000607-000614  



Stanley Jaksick’s Written Closing 

Arguments  

7.1.19  7 TJA001275-001281 

Stanley Jaksick’s Written Closing 

Reply Brief  

7.31.19 11 TJA001758-001977 

Stanley S. Jaksick’s Answer to 

First Amended Counter-petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, For Removal of 

Trustees and Appointment of 

Independent Trustee(s), and for 

Declaratory Judgment and Other 

Relief  

8.2.18  5 TJA000832-000844 

Supplemental Brief by Stanley 

Jaksick, Co-Trustee of the Samuel 

S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust  

2.18.20 12 TJA002078-002085 

Supplemental Motion in Support 

of Award of Attorney’s Fees to 

Wendy Jaksick’s Attorneys  

5.12.20 19 TJA003206-003324 

Todd B. Jaksick’s and Michael S. 

Kimmel’s Answer to First 

Amended Counter-Petition to 

Surcharge Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, For Removal of 

Trustees and Appointment of 

Independent Trustees, and for 

Declaratory Judgment and Other 

4.13.18  4 TJA000780-000795 



Relief  

Todd B. Jaksick’s Answer and 

Objections to First Amended 

Counter-Petition to Surcharge 

Trustees for Breach of Fiduciary 

Duties, For Removal of Trustees 

and Appointment of Independent 

Trustee(s) and For Declaratory 

Judgment and Other Relief  

4.9.18  4 TJA000767-000779 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Closing 

Argument Brief  

7.1.19 7 TJA001282-001362 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Closing 

Argument Brief  

7.31.19  9 TJA001536-001623 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Opposition to 

Wendy Jaksick’s Motion to Alter 

or Amend Judgment, or, 

Alternatively, Motion for a New 

Trial  

5.8.20 18 TJA003152-003189 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Opposition to 

Wendy Jaksick’s Supplemental 

Motion in Support of Award of 

Attorney’s Fees  

5.21.20 21 TJA003609-003617 

Todd B. Jaksick’s, Individually, 

Opposition to Wendy Jaksick’s 

Motion for Leave to Join 

Indispensable Parties  

12.6.18  5 TJA000856-000872 



Todd Jaksick’s Motion to Strike 

Wendy Jaksick’s Verified 

Memorandum of Costs or, in the 

Alternative, Motion to Retax 

Costs  

3.25.20 13 TJA002190-002194 

Todd B. Jaksick’s Motion to 

Amend Judgment  

4.29.20 18 TJA003001-003043 

Todd Jaksick’s Supplemental 

Brief in Response to the Court’s 

February 6, 2020 Order for 

Supplemental Briefing  

2.18.20 12 TJA001980-002043 

Trial Transcript  5.13.19 7 TJA001190-001202 

Trustees’ Supplemental Brief  2.18.20  12 TJA002044-002077 

Verdicts  3.4.19 5 TJA000954-000957 

Verified Memorandum of Costs  3.23.20  13 TJA002165-002189 

Wendy Jaksick’s Brief of Closing 

Arguments in the Equitable 

Claims Trial  

7.31.19 10 TJA001662-001757 

Wendy Jaksick’s Brief of Opening 

Arguments in the Equitable 

Claims Trial  

7.1.19 8 TJA001363-001470 

Wendy Jaksick’s Motion for 

Leave to Join Indispensable 

Parties  

11.15.18  5 TJA000848-000855 

Wendy Jaksick’s Omnibus Reply 

in Support of Motion for Leave to 

12.17.18  5 TJA000899-000933 



Join Indispensable Parties  

Wendy Jaksick’s Reply in Support 

of her Motion to Alter or Amend 

Judgment, or, Alternatively, 

Motion for New Trial  

5.15.20 19 TJA003349-003357 

Wendy Jaksick’s Response to 

Todd Jaksick’s Motion to Strike 

Wendy Jaksick’s Verified 

Memorandum of Costs, or in the 

Alternative, Motion to Retax 

Costs  

4.8.20  14 TJA002446-002450 

Wendy Jaksick’s Supplemental 

Brief in the Equitable Claims Trial  

2.25.20 12 TJA002086-002093 

  

Dated this 13th day of April, 2021.  

ROBISON, SHARP, SULLIVAN & BRUST 

A Professional Corporation 

71 Washington Street 

Reno, Nevada  89503 

 

 

 

/s/ Therese M. Shanks, Esq.   

KENT R. ROBISON (SBN #1167) 

THERESE M. SHANKS (SBN #12890) 

Attorneys for Appellant/Cross-Respondent 

            Todd B. Jaksick, in his individual capacity 

 

 

 

 



 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that on the 13th day of April, 2021, I served a copy of 

APPELLANT/CROSS-RESPONDENT TODD B. JAKSICK’S APPENDIX 

TO OPENING BRIEF- VOL. 12, upon all counsel of record: 

 

BY MAIL: I placed a true copy thereof enclosed in a sealed envelope 

addressed as follows: 

 

             BY FACSIMILE: I transmitted a copy of the foregoing document this 

date via telecopier to the facsimile number shown below:     

                                                                                            

 X        BY ELECTRONIC SERVICE: by electronically filing and serving the 

foregoing document with the Nevada Supreme Court's electronic filing system: 

 

Donald A. Lattin, Esq. 

Carolyn K. Renner, Esq. 

Maupin, Cox & LeGoy 

4785 Caughlin Parkway 

P. O. Box 30000 

Reno, Nevada 89519 

Email: dlattin@mcllawfirm.com / crenner@mcllawfirm.com 

Attorneys for Appellants/Cross Respondents/Trustees 

Todd B. Jaksick, Michael S. Kimmel, Kevin Riley 

 

Phil Kreitlein, Esq.  

Kreitlein Law Group 

1575 Delucchi Lane, Suite 101 

Reno, Nevada 89502 

Email: philip@kreitleinlaw.com 

Attorneys for Appellant/Cross Respondent Stanley S. Jaksick 

 

Adam Hosmer-Henner, Esq. 

McDonald Carano 

100 West Liberty Street, 10th Floor 

 P.O. Box 2670 

 Reno, NV  89505 

 Email:  ahosmerhenner@mcdonaldcarano.com 

Attorneys for Appellant/Cross Respondent Stanley S. Jaksick 

 

 

mailto:dlattin@mcllawfirm.com
mailto:crenner@mcllawfirm.com
mailto:philip@kreitleinlaw.com
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Mark J. Connot, Esq. 

Fox Rothschild LLP 

1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 700 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

Email: mconnot@foxrothschild.com 

Attorney for Respondent/Cross Appellant Wendy A. Jaksick 

 

R. Kevin Spencer, Esq. / Zachary E. Johnson, Esq. 

Spencer & Johnson PLLC 

500 N. Akard Street, Suite 2150 

Dallas, Texas  75201 

Email: kevin@dallasprobate.com / zach@dallasprobate.com 

Attorneys for Respondent/Cross Appellant Wendy A. Jaksick 

  

 DATED this 13th day of April, 2021. 

 

       

Christine O’Brien      

      Employee of Robison, Sharp, Sullivan 

& Brust 
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CODE: 3675 
Adam Hosmer-Henner, Esq. (NSBN 12779) 
MCDONALD CARANO  
100 West Liberty Street, 10th Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89501 
Telephone: (775) 788-2000  
ahosmerhenner@mcdonaldcarano.com 
Attorneys for Stanley Jaksick,  
Co-Trustee of the Family Trust 
 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 
 

* * * * * 
In the Matter of the Administration of the  
 
SSJ ISSUE TRUST, 

CASE NO.: PR17-00445 
 
DEPT. NO.: 15 

  
CASE NO.: PR17-00446 
 
DEPT. NO.: 15 

In the Matter of the Administration of the  
 
SAMUEL S. JAKSICK, JR. FAMILY TRUST, 
 

 

WENDY JAKSICK, 
 

Respondent and Counter Petitioner,  
 
v. 
 
TODD B. JAKSICK, Individually, as Co-Trustee 
of the Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust, and as 
Trustee of the SSJ’s Issue Trust, MICHAEL S. 
KIMMEL, Individually and as Co-Trustee of the 
Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust, and 
STANLEY S. JAKSICK, Individually and as Co-
Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family 
Trust, Kevin Riley, Individually and as former 
Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust 
and Trustee of the Wendy A. Jaksick 2012 BHC 
Family Trust, 
 

Petitioners and Counter-Respondents. 
 
STANLEY JAKSICK,  
 
                Respondent and Counter-Petitioner, 
 
v.  
 
TODD B. JAKSICK, Individually and as Co-
Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family 
Trust.  
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SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF BY STANLEY JAKSICK, CO-TRUSTEE OF THE  

SAMUEL S. JAKSICK, JR. FAMILY TRUST 

 Stanley Jaksick (“Stan”), as co-Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust, hereby 

submits this Supplemental Brief pursuant to the Court’s February 6, 2020 Order for 

Supplemental Briefing. This Supplemental Brief is based upon the following Memorandum of 

Points and Authorities, the evidence admitted at trial, the pleadings and papers on file in this 

action, and any argument of counsel at a hearing on these matters. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 Wendy Jaksick (“Wendy”) asked the jury for $80,166,000 in damages and so it is 

somewhat farfetched for her to act surprised about the value of her beneficial interest in the 

estate of Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Mar. 4, 2019 Trial Tr. 35:24. While there is a difference between 

the damages sought in litigation and the actual value of assets that Wendy could expect to 

receive without litigation, Wendy’s feigned surprise is simply not credible as demonstrated by an 

awareness of the value of her various interests throughout this case. See, e.g., Wendy’s First Am. 

Counter-Petition, Feb. 23, 2018 ¶ 31 (stating that the “terms of the Issue Trust . . . prohibit the 

distribution of the income or principal from the Issue Trust” for essentially “365 years” and 

recognizing that the value of the Issue Trust was approximately $15,000,000 of which she and 

her children had an interest of roughly $2,700,000 based on her allegations); Id. ¶ 47 (averring 

that Wendy had a 13% interest in Bright Holland [BHC], which was allegedly worth $845,000, 

and challenging the timing of the distribution of these funds rather than the amounts). Wendy’s 

knowledge has been further augmented by direct access to Kevin Riley, who serves as the 

accountant for most of the trusts and entities at issue. The evidence shows that she repeatedly 

contacted Mr. Riley, but not that she was denied information about the value of her interests. 

Rather, Wendy’s continuous complaint is that she is not being provided with money right away, 

even though she, more than any other party, received preferential treatment and advances.  

 The Order for Supplemental Briefing appears to stem from Wendy’s Emergency Motion 

to Compel, wherein Wendy argues that the “Trustees and their counsel represented to the jury 
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and the Court there was approximately $4 million in value coming to Wendy.” Wendy’s 

Emergency Motion to Compel July 23, 2019, p. 3. Wendy’s Emergency Motion to Compel is rife 

with error that infects the Court’s Order for Supplemental Briefing. As will be shown below, 

Wendy’s interpretation of Exhibit 561 and the attendant arguments and testimony is facially 

incorrect and unreasonable. Furthermore, Exhibit 561 was prepared and introduced by Todd 

Jaksick’s (“Todd”) separate counsel who was representing Todd individually. Stan was not 

involved, in any capacity let alone in his role as co-Trustee, in the preparation of the exhibit or 

the presentation of the exhibit to the jury. Finally, Exhibit 561 and the testimony by Todd did not 

relate solely to the Family Trust, which Wendy seems to willfully ignore, but to “Sam’s entire 

estate plan.” Feb. 22, 2019, Trial Tr. 27:15-28:4. The Court should reject Wendy’s attempt to 

confuse and mislead by describing this Exhibit and evidence as a representation that she will be 

receiving $4 million from the Family Trust. Rather, the Exhibit and evidence include interests 

outside of the Family Trust, her interest in the Issue Trust, as well as monies she already 

received.  

II. EXHIBIT 561 AND RELATED BACKGROUND 

 The Court’s Order for Supplemental Briefing contains errors that were occasioned by 

Wendy’s misleading and ambiguous arguments. Namely, the Order states that the “Trustees shall 

file arguments . . . that Wendy was or could have been specifically aware she would soon receive 

a $4 million distribution from the Family Trust.” Ord. 1. The Court wishes to answer “whether 

Wendy was aware before trial of that specific beneficial interest or whether she was genuinely 

surprised and prejudiced by seeing illustrative Exhibit 561 (and hearing attendant 

arguments/testimony) for the first time during trial.” Id. These errors can be traced to Wendy’s 

statements, including: 1) “the Co-Trustees represented to the jury and the Court that trusts and 

entities benefiting Wendy were funded or about to be funded with $4 million in assets that would 

be available to provide for Wendy” and 2) “the Trustees and their counsel represented to the jury 

and the Court there was approximately $4 million in value coming to Wendy” and that the jury 

trial was the first time “this purported distribution to Wendy” had been “made to Wendy or her 

counsel.” Wendy’s Emergency Motion to Compel July 23, 2019, Ex. A and pp. 3-4. 
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 First, it is grossly misleading for Wendy to say that the “Co-Trustees” represented 

anything to the jury. Exhibit 561 was prepared and presented solely by Todd’s separate counsel, 

Mr. Robison. Stan and his counsel did not assist in the preparation of the Exhibit, review it 

beforehand, introduce it, admit it, rely upon it, discuss it, or ratify it. Exhibit 561 was presented 

by Mr. Robison who has only represented Todd Jaksick as an individual. Mar. 4, 2019 Trial Tr. 

40:22-23; 53:11. Stan never represented to the jury or the Court that trusts and entities benefiting 

Wendy were funded or about to be funded with $4 million in value, let alone that there would be 

a $4 million distribution from the Family Trust. Wendy invites error by conflating the 

Defendants and their distinct roles and capacities.  

 Second, the “Co-Trustees” can only speak with respect to the Family Trust as they are 

charged with no other responsibilities toward Wendy in that role as a co-Trustee. Exhibit 561 

facially includes more than the Family Trust as Wendy’s interest in the Family Trust is depicted 

as only one of the six spokes. Wendy’s position that the jury was misled into believing that she 

would soon be receiving $4 million is preposterous given that one of the spokes in Exhibit 561 is 

listed as “Cash to Date,” which clearly contemplates past distributions. Wendy argued that the 

“Trustees’ representation at trial was false and was intended to prejudice Wendy’s claims before 

the jury by persuading the jury that Wendy would be taken care of by the Trustees.” Wendy’s 

Emergency Motion to Compel July 23, 2019, 4. Wendy’s fallacy is that the “representation” 

(which again was not made by the “Trustees” but by Todd’s individual attorney) related to the 

assets and obligations of the Family Trust. She states that “[b]ased on Trustees $4 million 

representation at trial, there should be more than sufficient funds to immediately make 

distributions to Wendy pursuant to the terms of the Family Trust.” Id. 7. Exhibit 561 does not 

show that the Family Trust had $4 million in assets nor does it show that the Family Trust had or 

has liquidity to distribute to Wendy.   

III. ARGUMENT 

A. Wendy Has Had Access to Accountings and Accountants.  

 In May 2014, Kevin Riley and Wendy corresponded in an email thread with the subject 

“accounting response.” Trial Ex. 57. Mr. Riley wrote to Wendy and informed her that the “first 
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annual accounting through March 31, 2014 has not yet been completed. This process is very 

involved as it documents every single transaction of the estate and the family trust . . . Hopefully, 

this answers your questions and since both Todd and Stan were also inquiring about the process, 

I am hoping that this email will be informative for everyone.” Id. (TJ 1323). Thereafter, Wendy 

routinely sought and was provided with information about her various interests. The issue is not 

that she is at an information deficit to her siblings in terms of valuations, the issue has been that 

she complains when any trustee or corporate officer refuses to distribute cash to her immediately.  

B. Exhibit 561 Was Not a Surprise to Wendy.  

 Exhibit 561 contains six sources of assets or interests for Wendy that Todd estimated at a 

combined total of $4,000,000. Stan cannot disaggregate this estimate by Todd and Stan is not a 

trustee of four of the six sources, but there is nothing surprising in Exhibit 561.  

1. Family Trust  

 Wendy’s interest in the Family Trust was continuously and repeatedly disclosed to her by 

Stan and the other co-Trustees as well as by Mr. Riley. She specifically testified at her deposition 

that her father “wanted my one-third equal share to be put into trust for me and distributed . . . 

over my lifetime.” Dep. Tr. Wendy Jaksick, Aug. 9, 2018, 837:6-24. Wendy received the 

accountings and engaged her own trust attorneys and advisors, trial did not reveal anything new. 

2. Wendy BHC Trust 

 Kevin Riley is the trustee of the Wendy Jaksick 2012 BHC trust. Trial Ex. 441 (not 

admitted). Mr. Riley wrote to Wendy on July 21, 2017 to state that “thus far, there has been no 

net income to distribute and no cash to make any payments, even if I had wanted to make such a 

distribution.” Id. (RILEY3165). Wendy was informed that this trust held 13 shares of common 

stock in Bright-Holland Co and that Mr. Riley declined Wendy’s “request to distribute the only 

asset in the trust which would be a distribution of principal.” Id. (RILEY3169). Wendy was fully 

aware that she may not receive a cash distribution from this entity anytime “soon.”  

3. Jackrabbit (Wendy’s Subtrust) 

 Wendy’s interest in Jackrabbit Properties, LLC is held in her subtrust and was estimated 

by Stan at a value of approximately $900,000. Feb. 27, 2019 Trial Tr. 137:3-8. Stan is a co-
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trustee for Wendy’s subtrust under the Family Trust. Jackrabbit Properties, LLC holds real estate 

and does not generate cash but instead has annual expenses and requires capital calls. Id. 137:9-

25. Wendy was aware of the value of her interest in Jackrabbit Properties, LLC and specifically 

wanted to stay in that entity, rather than be cashed out. Id. at 139:6-10 (testimony of S. Jaksick). 

4. Cash to Date 

 The unrefuted testimony at trial established that Wendy had been advanced cash from 

“by Todd and Stand and the trust” in the approximate amount of $500,000 or $600,000. Feb. 27, 

2019 Trial Tr. 25:2-23 (testimony of J. Clayton); Id. 146:25-147:2 (testimony of S. Jaksick); 

Trial Ex. 331. This does not include additional funds that were advanced to Wendy at the behest 

of Stan, totaling at least $75,000. Id. 134:17-20. Wendy, as the recipient of these funds, was 

aware of them and their total and therefore cannot have been surprised by this source.  

5. Jaksick Family LLC 

 The Family Trust only has at most a 1% interest in Jaksick Family, LLC, through a 

separate entity, while Wendy, Todd, and Stan each have a 33% interest individually. Feb. 27, 

2019 Trial Tr. 155:18-25. Stan is the manager of Jaksick Family, LLC and testified that Wendy 

would “derive revenue” if certain memberships at Montreux were sold in the future. Id. at 

156:11-157:7. Wendy’s interest in Jaksick Family, LLC does have a speculative, future value, 

but Wendy has always been aware of the semi-illiquid nature of the assets of Jaksick Family, 

LLC and in fact a Montreux membership was used to pay for Wendy’s legal fees in order to 

resolve a lawsuit against Wendy. Dep. Tr. Stanley Jaksick Aug. 8, 2018 (579:4-581:5).   

6. Issue Trust Interest 

 Stan is not a trustee of the Issue Trust and is not charged with any responsibility for 

informing Wendy about the value of her interest therein. Throughout this litigation though, 

Wendy was aware that the assets in the Issue Trust could not be distributed to her. Wendy’s First 

Am. Counter-Petition, Feb. 23, 2018 ¶ 31 (stating that the “terms of the Issue Trust . . . prohibit 

the distribution of the income or principal from the Issue Trust” for essentially “365 years”). She 

also knew that the value of her interest in the Issue Trust varied depending on the value of the 

Lake Tahoe property, but could be as high as $2.7 million. Id.  
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Affirmation 

The undersigned does hereby affirm that pursuant to NRS 239B.030, the preceding 

document does not contain the social security number of any person. 
 

DATED: February 18, 2020.     
 

McDONALD CARANO  
 
 
By /s/ Adam Hosmer-Henner   

Adam Hosmer-Henner, Esq.  
100 West. Liberty Street, 10th Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89501 

Attorneys for Stanley Jaksick,  
Co-Trustee of the Family Trust 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I hereby certify that I am an employee of MCDONALD 

CARANO and that on February 18, 2020, I served the foregoing on the parties in said case by 

electronically filing via the Court’s e-filing system. The participants in this case are registered e-

filing users and notice of filing will be served on all parties by operation of the Court’s CM/ECF 

system, and parties may access this filing through the Court’s CM/ECF system. 
 
Donald Lattin, Esq. 
Robert LeGoy, Esq. 
Brian C. McQuaid, Esq. 
Carolyn Renner, Esq. 
Maupin Cox & LeGoy 
4785 Caughlin Parkway 
Reno, NV 89520 

 

Kent Robison, Esq. 
Therese M. Shanks, Esq. 
Robison, Sharp, Sullivan & Brust 
71 Washington Street 
Reno, NV 89503 

 

Mark J. Connot, Esq. 
Fox Rothschild, LLP 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, # 700 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
 
 

Philip L. Kreitlein, Esq. 
Kreitlein Law Group, Ltd. 
1575 Delucci Lane, Ste. 101 
Reno, NV 89502 

 

 R. Kevin Spencer, Esq. 
Zachary E. Johnson, Esq. 
Brendan P. Harvell, Esq. 
Spencer Law, P.C. 
500 N. Akard St., Suite 2150 
Dallas, TX 75201 

 I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

 DATED:  February 18, 2020. 

 
By /s/ Adam Hosmer-Henner                          

           An Employee of McDonald Carano 
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FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 700 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
(702) 262-6899 telephone 
(702) 597-5503 fax 
mconnot@foxrothschild.com 

R. KEVIN SPENCER (Admitted PHV) 
Texas Bar Card No. 00786254 
ZACHARY E. JOHNSON (Admitted PHV) 
Texas Bar Card No. 24063978 
SPENCER & JOHNSON, PLLC 
500 N. Akard Street, Suite 2150 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
kevin@dallasprobate.com 
zach@dallasprobate.com
Attorneys for Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick 

SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA

In the Matter of the Administration of the
SSJ’S ISSUE TRUST,  

CASE NO.: PR17-00445
DEPT. NO.  15 

In the Matter of the Administration of the
SAMUEL S. JAKSICK, JR. FAMILY TRUST,  

CASE NO.: PR17-00446
DEPT. NO.  15 

WENDY JAKSICK,  
Respondent and Counter-Petitioner, 

v. 
TODD B. JAKSICK, INDIVIDUALLY, AS CO-
TRUSTEE OF THE SAMUEL S. JAKSICK, JR. 
FAMILY TRUST, AND AS TRUSTEE OF THE 
SSJ’S ISSUE TRUST; MICHAEL S. KIMMEL, 
INDIVIDUALLY AND AS CO-TRUSTEE OF 
THE SAMUEL S. JAKSICK, JR. FAMILY 
TRUST; AND STANLEY S. JAKSICK, 
INDIVIDUALLY AND AS CO-TRUSTEE OF 
THE SAMUEL S. JAKSICK, JR. FAMILY 
TRUST; KEVIN RILEY, INDIVIDUALLY AND 
AS FORMER TRUSTEE OF THE SAMUEL S. 
JAKSICK, JR. FAMILY TRUST AND TRUSTEE 
OF THE WENDY A. JAKSICK 2012 BHC 
FAMILY TRUST, 

Petitioners and Counter-Respondents. 

WENDY JAKSICK’S 
SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN THE 
EQUITABLE CLAIMS TRIAL 

F I L E D
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Wendy A. Jaksick (“Wendy” or “Respondent”) submits the following Supplemental Brief in 

the Equitable Claims Trial, pursuant to the Court’s February 6, 2020 Order (the “Order”). 

1. Initially, the Trustees make a “big-deal” out of use of the word “soon” in the Order 

arguing it is a false premise and Wendy’s position is a fallacy. Wendy relied on Todd’s representations 

to the jury that distributions were imminent; whether imminent means “soon” or “soon” can be inferred 

from imminent is irrelevant. Todd’s message was, “if we can get this lawsuit over with, she will get 

her property,” he hoped “by the end of the year;” considering Sam’s death was in 2013, that would be 

“soon” by every measure. Trustees have no intention of making a distribution anytime “soon” and do 

not, even now, commit to a date certain for distributions perpetuating their shell game of self-dealing,1

while promising Wendy she will get hers someday. As the Court noted in its Order Regarding 

Submission, dated September 13, 2019,2 once the Court no longer can hold the Trustees accountable, 

they will have no reason to do anything with any deliberate speed or ever, without future new lawsuits. 

2. “The fiduciary obligations of a trustee are great. A trustee should do everything in his 

power to avoid a conflict of interest. Bank of Nevada v. Speirs, 95 Nev. 870, 603 P.2d 1074 (1979).” 

Riley v. Rockwell, 103 Nev. 698, 701, 747 P.2d 903, 905 (1987). In Charleston v. Hardy, 108 Nev. 

878, 882, 839 P.2d 1303, 1306 (1992), the Nevada Supreme Court wrote: 
In all matters connected with [the] trust, a trustee is bound to act in 
the highest good faith toward all beneficiaries and may not obtain 
any advantage over the latter by the slightest misrepresentation, 
concealment, threat, or adverse pressure of any kind. Id., at 1306. 

3. The Trustees duty to disclose is vital to their position as Trustees and fiduciaries3 and 

it is their burden to prove what they disclosed. Trustees knew their fiduciary duties to act in the best 

interest of the beneficiaries, to follow the trust terms, to provide accountings and to fully disclose all 

information materially affecting a beneficiary’s interest. Trial Transcript, 02/19/2019, Page 96:14 – 

97:13. Yet, the essence of Todd’s and Stan’s and Trustees’ Supplemental Briefs is: “It’s in there 

somewhere.” Trustees should be able to point to a small number of accountings or correspondence 

showing Wendy received the values in Exhibit 561 and that they were accurate, but they cannot. As a 

result, they are forced to generate trails through a maze of unreliable evidence to try and show Wendy’s 

knowledge of Exhibit 561. Affirmatively, the Trustees resort to blaming Wendy’s lack of knowledge 

1 Trial Transcript, 02/19/2019, 99:19-23. 
2 “Further, a proceeding concerning a trust ‘does not result in continuing supervisory proceedings, and the administration 
of the trust must proceed expeditiously in a manner consistent with the terms of the trust, without judicial intervention or 
the order, approval, or other action of any court,’ unless the jurisdiction of the court is properly invoked as provided by 
law. NRS 164.015(7).” 
3 “A fiduciary relationship, for instance, gives rise to a duty of disclosure. See, e.g., Foley v. Morse & Mowbray, 109 Nev. 
116, 125–26, 848 P.2d 519, 525 (1993).” Dow Chem. Co. v. Mahlum, 114 Nev. 1468, 1486, 970 P.2d 98, 110 (1998). 
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on her, asserting, “she should have asked,” then, try to taint the Court’s review with adjectives of 

incredulity to minimize their own breaches of fiduciary duty. First, the onus is on them to tell Wendy. 

A beneficiary is not required to guess what she needs to ask her fiduciaries or risk waiving some right.  

Second, Wendy did not have “free access” to Kevin Riley (“Riley”). He was restricted from providing 

Wendy with information without prior approval from Todd. When Wendy asked Riley for a copy of 

Todd’s Indemnification Agreement on August 12, 2016, Riley responded he would need Todd’s 

permission to give it to her. EX 75.  

4. Family Trust.  Trustees cite to five trial exhibits to show Wendy’s beneficial interest 

in the Family Trust was $1,000,000.00, and that she was aware of it: the four annual accountings (EXs 

72, 73, 74 & 126) and the Estate Tax Return (EX 135). Trustees’ Brief, p. 3, lines 19-23. The Estate 

Tax Return contains date of death (04/21/2013) values of Sam’s assets, not time of trial values.   

5. Notably, Exhibit 126 is the Family Trust Accounting for the period ending March 31, 

2017 (“2017 FT Accounting”), delivered to Wendy on August 6, 2018, was the last accounting Wendy 

received until a few days before trial began on February 14, 2019. Trustees argue that Exhibit 126 

shows the Family Trust assets at the end of the accounting period were $4,578,996.71, valuing 

Wendy’s 1/3rd beneficial interest at $1,500,000. Id. Then, they arbitrarily reduce it by $500,000.00 for 

“unspecified debts and obligation of the estate,” lowering Wendy’s interest to $1,000,000. Id. But, the 

Trustees’ argument blatantly ignores: (i) the $2,127,795.16 in Unpaid Claims and Trust Debts and (ii) 

the $5,487,357.24 in Contingent Trust Obligations reported by the Trustees in their 2017 FT 

Accounting. EX 126, pp. 30-33. Trustees’ calculation intentionally omitted these debts, which reduce 

Wendy’s interest to $518,785.74 in the negative. This is a difference of over $1,500,000 from the 

$1,000,000 the Trustees assert Wendy owned and knew about at the time of trial. Similarly, all the 

Family Trust accountings confirm Wendy’s interest was worthless, as follows: 
Exhibit Accounting Period Assets on Hand - Debts 

EX 72 – FT Accounting April 21, 2013 – March 
31, 2014 

(($7,670,919.92 + <$3,489,926.18> + 
<$3,973,223.29>4) / 3 = $69,256.81) 

EX 73 – FT Accounting April 1, 2014 – March 
31, 2015 

(($3,680,854.28 + <$4,552,660.23> + 
<$2,005,463.15>5) / 3 = <$959,089.70>) 

EX 74 – FT Accounting April 1, 2015 – March 
31, 2016 

(($3,334,510.15 + <$3,991,161.06> + 
<$9,034,277.61>6) / 3 = <$3,230,309.51>) 

EX 126 – FT Accounting April 1, 2016 – March 
31, 2017 

(($4,578,996.71 + <$2,127,795.16> + 
<$5,487,357.24>7) / 3 = <$518,785.74>) 

4 This is undervalued because it includes “unknown” for the Todd’s indemnification agreement debt. EX 72, p. 23.   
5 This is undervalued because it includes “unknown” for the Todd’s indemnification agreement debt. EX 73, p. 33. 
6 Contingent Trust Obligations value is qualified: “The total amount of the claim has yet to be determined.” EX 74, p. 31. 
7 Contingent Trust Obligations value is qualified: “The total amount of the claim has yet to be determined.” EX 126, p. 33.
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6. Notwithstanding the “accountings” are almost indecipherable, they are wholly 

unreliable. The Trustees could not verify the “accountings” and, when asked about them, they deferred 

to Riley. Trial Transcript, 02/21/2019, 186:22-197:23. Riley could not even vouch for his own 

compilations, disclaiming that the accountings were not audited or reviewed and that he could not 

express an opinion or provide assurances about them; the Trustees knew it. EXs 72, 73, 74 and 126 

and Trial Transcript, 02/21/2019, 197:24-201:7. The disclaimer also confirms the trustees of the 

[Trust] are “responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements…” Id. The 

failure of the Trustees to cite evidence, inside or outside the trial record, that Wendy knew or should 

have known her beneficial interest in the Family Trust was $1,000,000.00 at the time of trial confirms 

it does not exist because they would have cited it if they had it .    

7. Wendy BHC Trust.  Trustees cite to a total of two trial exhibits to show Wendy’s 

beneficial interest in the BHC Trust was $350,000.00, and that she was aware of it: (i) Wendy’s BHC 

Trust Agreement (EX 541) and (ii) a July 25, 2016 email from Riley (EX 168). Trustees’ Brief, p. 3-

4, line 26-2. The Trust Agreement (EX 541), signed on December 17, 2012, confirms its terms and 

that it was initially funded with 12 shares of Bright Holland Company stock. Exhibit 168 

communicated to Wendy that Bright Holland sold property for $4,650,000 some time prior to July 25, 

2016, that some or all of the funds would be used to pay down debt, and that “Todd has indicated there 

would not be any funds distributed from this sale;” that is it. Id. Wendy was never provided additional 

information about the assets or debts of Bright Holland or her BHC Trust. The record is void of 

evidence showing Wendy knew the value of her beneficial interest in BHC. 

8. Jackrabbit.  Trustees cite to a total of two trial exhibits to show the value of “Wendy’s 

Jackrabbit Subtrust” was $850,000.00, and that she was aware of it: (i) an email from Riley (EX 31)  

enclosing (ii) Wendy’s Subtrust Accounting for the period April 21, 2013 – December 31, 2016 (“2016 

Subtrust Accounting”) (EX 95). Brief, p. 4, lines 4-15. The 2016 Subtrust Accounting confirmed, the 

only assets Wendy’s Subtrust received were fractional interests in notes receivable with a value of 

$135,455.02 (as of December 31, 2016) that would likely never be repaid. EX 95, p. 3 and EX 95, p. 

4-5 ($173,455.02 + <$38,000.00> = $135,455.02). Also, during this litigation, Wendy learned the 

Family Trust owned Samuel Jaksick LLC I (“SJLLC I”), which owned an interest in Jackrabbit 

Properties, LLC (“Jackrabbit”). All the accountings Wendy received for the Family Trust and Wendy’s 

Subtrust prior to February 10, 2019 either: (i) included a hyphen for the value of SJLLC I or (ii) 

excluded SJLLC I entirely. This is confirmed, in detail, in Wendy’s Opening Brief at: p. 10, lines 1-
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28; p. 11, lines 13-18; p. 12, lines 3-28; p. 16, lines 21-25; pp. 17-19; p. 20, lines 5.8 Trustees never 

disclosed the value or the value of Wendy’s beneficial interest in these entities.   

9. Despite numerous demands, Trustees refused to deliver Wendy’s Subtrust Accounting 

for the period ending December 31, 2017 (“2017 Subtrust Accounting”). It was due on March 31, 

2018, and, only after this Court ordered Trustees to deliver it, over their objections, did Wendy receive 

it on February 11, 2019, just three days before the start of trial.  For the very first time, Wendy 

learned an interest in Jackrabbit with some value had been transferred into Wendy’s SubTrust, but no 

back-up information was provided. Unbelievably, Wendy has never received an accounting of that 

interest when it was transferred and held outside the Family Trust and Wendy’s Subtrust for nearly 

two years – a per se breach of fiduciary duty. Since mediation was raised in the Supplemental Briefs, 

Wendy must respond. Most disturbingly, at the mediation on January 2 and 3, 2019,9 just a month 

before original start of the trial, Trustees attempted to “buy-out” Wendy’s interest in Jackrabbit for 

1/3rd of the value they withheld from her until they provided the 2017 SubTrust Accounting three days 

– a month later. Trustees: (i) actively refused to deliver the 2017 Subtrust Accounting to Wendy, (ii) 

intentionally hid value information from Wendy, and (iii) only disclosed it because the Court 

compelled them to do so. Stan’s trial testimony affirmatively shows Todd’s effort to force Wendy to 

“settle cheap” because Todd did not want Wendy to get anything. Transcript, 02/27/2019, 118:2-17.  

It is difficult to imagine more blatant and intentional acts of self-dealing by fiduciaries than to hide 

information required to be disclosed by statute (NRS 165) while negotiating a settlement with their 

beneficiary, all to gain a personal advantage at her expense.   

10. Cash to Date. The Trustees continually cite $631,000 that Wendy received over time, 

and, feebly, act like neither of them received any benefit over the same period.10 The distributions to 

Wendy helped fund her son’s education – paying tuition and other expenses – is exactly the benefit 

Wendy’s Trust is designed to provide. And, while the Co-Trustees are personally living out of the 

Trusts, are living in multi-million-dollar houses, enjoying income and the use of thousands of acres of 

property, Wendy and her son were sleeping in her car because she could not pay rent. Regardless, past 

received distributions is, by definition, not a benefit Wendy was “about to receive.” 

8 Wendy hereby incorporates such discussion and the evidence cited as if fully set forth herein. 
9 Kent Robison’s Declaration attached to Todd’s Supplemental Brief concerning his “best recollection” of what was 
discussed at mediation is not based upon his personal knowledge because he has no idea what was conveyed by the 
mediator in Wendy’s room.
10 This was discussed in detail in Wendy’s Opening Brief at: p. 52-53, lines 28-9 (capital call and loan payments); p. 88-
90, lines 14-10 (capital call payments); and Wendy’s Closing Brief at: p. 30-31, lines 15-2 (capital call payments); pp. 65-
66, lines 11-13; p. 69, lines 21-22 (Paydown of Tahoe Loan). 
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11. Jaksick Family LLC.   Trustees’ argue that Wendy’s beneficial interest in Jaksick 

Family LLC (“JFLLC”) was $800,000. Trustees’ Brief, p. 4, lines 4-15. Wendy, Individually, owns a 

33% interest in JFLLC.  Stan’s Supplemental Brief, p. 5, lines 13-20.  Wendy inherited her interest in 

this entity from her grandmother, who died in 1996, not Sam. Wendy is still waiting to receive her 

inheritance at the hands of her fiduciary brothers, who will not deliver it to her as evidenced by the 

two decades that have passed; yet they claim she is about to receive it. Stan, the manager of JFLLC, 

states Wendy has always been aware of the semi-illiquid nature of the assets of JFLLC, and that 

“Wendy would ‘derive revenue’ if certain memberships at Montreux were sold in the future.” Id. Stan 

confirmed that JFLLC has “a speculative, future value” but does not state the value or evidence that 

Wendy knew or could have known its value at the time of trial. Id., at lines 17-18. In May 2014, Riley 

told Wendy there was “no cash and there never has been any cash” in JFLLC. X57. Without disclosure 

of the debts, potential timing of sale, market for sale and other financial information, Wendy had and 

has no way of knowing the value of her beneficial interest in Jaksick Family, LLC.  

12. Issue Trust Interest (Beneficial Interest).  Despite claiming the Issue Trust was a 

“dynasty” trust and that Sam’s intent was to keep the acreage together for the benefit of generations, 

Todd and Stan used life insurance proceeds belonging to the Issue Trust to feather Todd’s and Stan’s 

nests, instead of building houses on the property and perpetuating the Trust. In a bind to pay millions 

in mortgage interest on the Tahoe Property, after he improperly and illegally got it transferred into his 

own entity, Todd used Issue Trust life insurance funds to pay off the mortgage, leaving the Issue Trust 

with an interest in his entity, which he later attempted to sell part of to Stan converting it to a non-

controlling interest. Instead of the Tahoe Property being in the Family Trust, where it started, or the 

SSJ, LLC entity available for all beneficiaries, it is now in Todd’s entity where he has total control 

over its use. Todd testified he had total discretion to dictate use.  Trial Transcript, 02/19/2019, 241:14-

20. Notwithstanding the Trustees attempt to assign a value to Wendy’s beneficial interest in the Issue 

Trust, the truth is it is worth zero! Todd promises to allow the beneficiaries to the use the properties, 

but nothing could be more esoteric and intangible. No one would buy what purports to be Wendy’s 

beneficial interest in the Issue Trust because it is subject to Todd’s whim. Trustees could never cite 

the Court to evidence of a value on that kind of interest, because it is impossible to value – meaning, 

Wendy could not have known its value because the Trustees do not even know its value.

WHEREFORE, Wendy requests the Court consider this Supplemental Brief, the arguments 

and evidence included and cited herein and enter judgment against the Counter-Respondents 

consistent with Wendy’s pleadings.   
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AFFIRMATION  
Pursuant to NRS 239B.030 

The undersigned does hereby affirm that this document does not contain the social security 

number of any person. 

DATED this 25th day of February, 2020. 

FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP 

/s/ Mark J. Connot  
Mark J. Connot (10010) 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, #700 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
mconnot@foxrothschild.com 

SPENCER & JOHNSON, PLLC 

/s/ R. Kevin Spencer  
R. Kevin Spencer (Admitted PHV) 
Zachary E. Johnson (Admitted PHV) 
500 N. Akard Street, Suite 2150 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
kevin@dallasproabte.com 
zach@dallasprobate.com 
Attorneys for Respondent Wendy A. Jaksick 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP and that 

on this 25th day of February, 2020, I served a true and correct copy of WENDY JAKSICK’S 

SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN THE EQUITABLE CLAIMS TRIAL by the Court’s electronic file 

and serve system addressed to the following: 

Kent Robison, Esq. 
Therese M. Shanks, Esq. 
Robison, Sharp, Sullivan & Brust 
71 Washington Street 
Reno, NV  89503 
Attorneys for Todd B. Jaksick, Beneficiary 
SSJ’s Issue Trust and Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr., 
Family Trust 

Donald A. Lattin, Esq. 
L. Robert LeGoy, Jr., Esq. 
Brian C. McQuaid, Esq. 
Carolyn K. Renner, Esq. 
Maupin, Cox & LeGoy 
4785 Caughlin Parkway 
Reno, NV  89519 
Attorneys for Petitioners/Co-Trustees Todd B. 
Jaksick and Michael S. Kimmel of the SSJ’s 
Issue Trust and Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr., Family 
Trust 

Phil Kreitlein, Esq. 
Kreitlein Law Group 
1575 Delucchi Lane, Ste. 101 
Reno, NV  89502 
Attorneys for Stanley S. Jaksick, Co-Trustee 
Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust 

Adam Hosmer-Henner, Esq. 
McDonald Carano 
100 West Liberty Street, 10th Fl. 
P.O. Box 2670 
Reno, NV  89505 
Attorneys for Stanley S. Jaksick 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

DATED this 25th day of February, 2020. 

/s/ Doreen Loffredo  
An Employee of Fox Rothschild LLP 



F I L E D
Electronically
PR17-00445

2020-03-12 11:02:40 AM
Jacqueline Bryant
Clerk of the Court

Transaction # 7789265



















































 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
CODE:  2540 
Adam Hosmer-Henner, Esq. (NSBN 12779) 
MCDONALD CARANO  
100 West Liberty Street, 10th Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89501 
Telephone: (775) 788-2000  
ahosmerhenner@mcdonaldcarano.com 
Attorneys for Stanley Jaksick,  
Co-Trustee of the Family Trust 
 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 
 

* * * * * 
 

In the Matter of the Administration of the  
 
SSJ ISSUE TRUST, 

CASE NO.: PR17-00445 
 
DEPT. NO.: 15 

 
In the Matter of the Administration of the  
 
SAMUEL S. JAKSICK, JR. FAMILY TRUST, 
 

 
CASE NO.: PR17-00446 
 
DEPT. NO.: 15 

WENDY JAKSICK, 
 

Respondent and Counter Petitioner,  
 
v. 
 
TODD B. JAKSICK, Individually, as Co-Trustee 
of the Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust, and as 
Trustee of the SSJ’s Issue Trust, MICHAEL S. 
KIMMEL, Individually and as Co-Trustee of the 
Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust, and 
STANLEY S. JAKSICK, Individually and as Co-
Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family 
Trust, Kevin Riley, Individually and as former 
Trustee of the Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust 
and Trustee of the Wendy A. Jaksick 2012 BHC 
Family Trust, 
 

Petitioners and Counter-Respondents. 
 
STANLEY JAKSICK,  
                Respondent and Counter-Petitioner, 
 
v.  
 
TODD B. JAKSICK, Individually and as Trustee 
of the Samuel S. Jaksick Jr. Family Trust and 
SSJ’s Issue Trust.  
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 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an Order After Equitable Trial was entered in the above-

entitled matter on March 12, 2020. A copy of the Order is attached hereto.  

Affirmation 

The undersigned does hereby affirm that pursuant to NRS 239B.030, the preceding 

document does not contain the social security number of any person. 

 
DATED: March 17, 2020    
 

McDONALD CARANO  
 
 
By /s/ Adam Hosmer-Henner   

Adam Hosmer-Henner, Esq.  
100 West. Liberty Street, 10th Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89501 
 
Attorneys for Stanley Jaksick,  

Co-Trustee of the Family Trust 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I hereby certify that I am an employee of MCDONALD 

CARANO and that on March 17, 2020, I served the within NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER on 

the parties in said case by electronically filing via the Court’s e-filing system. The participants in 

this case are registered e-filing users and notice of filing will be served on all parties by 

operation of the Court’s CM/ECF system, and parties may access this filing through the Court’s 

CM/ECF system. 
 

Donald Lattin, Esq. 
Robert LeGoy, Esq. 
Brian C. McQuaid, Esq. 
Carolyn Renner, Esq. 
Maupin Cox & LeGoy 
4785 Caughlin Parkway 
Reno, NV 89520 

 

Kent Robison, Esq. 
Therese M. Shanks, Esq. 
Robison, Sharp, Sullivan & Brust 
71 Washington Street 
Reno, NV 89503 

 

Mark J. Connot, Esq. 
Fox Rothschild, LLP 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, # 700 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
 
 

Philip L. Kreitlein, Esq. 
Kreitlein Law Group, Ltd. 
1575 Delucci Lane, Ste. 101 
Reno, NV 89502 

 

 R. Kevin Spencer, Esq. 
Zachary E. Johnson, Esq. 
Brendan P. Harvell, Esq. 
Spencer Law, P.C. 
500 N. Akard St., Suite 2150 
Dallas, TX 75201 

 

 I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

 DATED:  March 17, 2020. 

 
By     /s/ Jill Nelson                           

           Jill Nelson 
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THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

9 In the Matter of the Administration of the

10 SSJ'S ISSUE TRUST.

Case No. PR17-00445

12 CONSOLIDATED

13 In the Matter of the Administration of the Case No. PR17-00446

1 4 SAMUEL S. JAKSICK, JR. FAMILY TRUST. Dept. No. 15

15

16
ORDER AFTER EQUITABLE TRIAL

17
On August 2, 2017, the trustees of the SSJ's Issue Trust ("Issue Trust") and the

18
Samuel S. Jaksick, Jr. Family Trust ("Family Trust") filed Petitions for Confirmation of

19
Trustee and Admission of Trust to the Jurisdiction of the Court, and for Approval of

20
Accountings and Other Trust Administration Matters.1 October 10, 2017, Wendy Jaksick

21 filed an Opposition and Objection to the Petition. On January 19, 2018, Wendy filed a
22

Counterpetition to Surcharge Trustees for Breach of Fiduciary Duties, for Removal of

23
Trustees and Appointment of Independent Trustee(s), and for Declaratory Judgment and

24
Other Relief, which was subsequently amended on February 23, 2018. Family Trust co-

25
trustee Stan Jaksick filed an Objection to Approval of Accountings and Other Trust

26
Administration Matters on October 10, 2017. Todd Jaksick, as trustee of the Issue Trust

27

28

1 Family Trust co-trustee Stan Jaksick did not join in the petitions.



1 and co-trustee of the Family Trust, and Michael Kimmel as co-trustee of the Family Trust,

2 are represented by Donald Lattin and Carolyn Renner. Todd is represented in his

3 individual capacity by Kent Robison. Mr. Robison also represents Duck Lake Ranch, LLC,

4 Incline TSS, Ltd., and Sammy Supercub, LLC. Stanley Jaksick, as co-trustee of the Family

5 Trust, is represented by Adam Hosmer-Henner and Philip Kreitlein. Wendy is

6 represented by Mark Connot and Kevin Spencer.

1. This Court presided over a jury trial on legal claims between February 14,

8 2019, and March 4, 2019. The jury concluded Todd breached his fiduciary duty as trustee

9 and awarded damages of $15,000. The jury found no other trustee breached any fiduciary

10 duty. In addition, the jury found Wendy had not proven her claims for 1) civil conspiracy

1 1 and aiding and abetting, 2) aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, or 3) fraud

12 against any counter-respondent whether individually or as trustee. The jury did not find

13 any counter-respondent acted with fraud, oppression, or malice.

2. On May 13, 2019, this Court began a bench trial to resolve the remaining

15 equitable claims. By stipulation, the parties submitted written closing trial statements and

16 replies. This Court authorized supplemental briefing on a narrow issue related to Exhibit

17 561. This Court has considered all briefs and evidence admitted during the equitable trial

18 (including many exhibits previously admitted at jury trial).2 This Court is aware that

19 disagreements continue and Wendy alleges ongoing breaches of fiduciary duties, as

20 illustrated by the moving papers relating to post-trial costs, the 2018 annual accountings,

21 and distribution guidance. It now finds and orders as follows:

General Findings

1. As a factfinder, this Court is authorized to consider its everyday common

24 sense and judgment, and determine what inferences may be properly drawn from direct

25 and circumstantial evidence. See Lewis v. Sea Ray Boats, Inc., 119 Nev. 100, 105, 65 P.3d

7

14

22

23

26

27 2 On May 13, 2019, the parties stipulated into evidence many exhibits previously admitted during the jury
trial. Wendy also offered new evidence during the equitable phase of trial. A list of all documentary

28 evidence admitted on equitable issues is contained in this Court's Order Addressing Evidence at Equitable
Trial, dated May 20, 2019. This Court has not considered unadmitted documentary evidence. However, this
Court has considered deposition testimony properly part of the trial record pursuant to NRCP 32.

2



1 245, 248 (2003); Nev. 1GI.5 (2011); Nev. 2EV.3 (2011); Nev. J.I. 1.05 (1986).

2 The facts presented in support of the equitable claims inextricably overlap

3 with the legal claims presented to the jury. Despite how the claims are pled, Wendy is

4 attempting to retry her case to obtain a second review of similar facts and an outcome

5 different from the jury verdict.3 This Court may or may not have reached the same

decision as the jury. Regardless, it has no authority to dilute or otherwise modify the

7 jury's verdict.

2.

6

8 3. The file materials compose more than 17,000 pages. There were more than

9 300 separate pleadings, motions, oppositions, replies, joinders, and other substantive

10 papers filed in this proceeding. The parties produced tens of thousands of documents

1 1 before trial and marked 677 exhibits for the two trials, of which 227 were admitted. The

12 substantive papers (with exhibits and transcripts) filed since the jury's verdict compose

13 more than 4,000 pages. This Court has read and re-read the pending moving papers, to

14 include exhibits and transcripts. It has analyzed every argument presented and carefully

15 studied the cited authorities. It cannot synthesize the competing moving papers, exhibits,

16 and arguments into a single coherent order. It cannot resolve the arguments in minutia.

1 7 Therefore, this Court elects to make general findings, which are substantially supported by

18 the evidence of record.

4. This Court regrets some of its more direct findings, which it must disclose to

20 support its discretionary resolution of equitable claims.

5. Sam Jaksick created substantial wealth during his life but his leveraged

22 estate was compromised by the "great recession" during the last season of his life. Sam's

23 estate is exceedingly complex because he used tens of different corporate entities as

24 holding companies for his wealth. Sam also partnered with non-family business entities.

6. Sam had three children: Stan, Wendy, and Todd. Sam loved each of his

19

21

25

26

27 3 On January 3, 2018, Wendy demanded a jury trial on all legal claims. Wendy demanded a jury — at least in

part— because she likely suspected a judge's comprehensive, studious examination of all evidence would not

28 result in the $80 million compensatory damages and additional punitive damages she asked the jury to
award. This Court honors Wendy's unfettered constitutional right to a jury trial but it will not re-visit the

identical facts to arrive at a different outcome for Wendy.

3



1 children, despite their different strengths, weaknesses, and personalities. Wendy did not

2 transition well into adulthood and Sam was aware of her inability to provide for herself.

3 Wendy does not understand financial complexities. Sam was more confident in Stan and

4 Todd as he worked with them during his life and designated them to continue

5 participating in his estate and business affairs after his death. Stan's trial participation was

6 not lengthy but he appears to enjoy some financial fluency and business sophistication.

7 Stan also presented as a credible witness and thoughtful sibling. While Todd is most

8 familiar with Sam's business and trust affairs, he is only marginally sophisticated as a

9 trustee. He regularly deferred to the knowledge and expertise of others.4 Todd also

10 presented as conflicted by his own interests, influenced by his animus towards Wendy,

1 1 and confused about his duties as a neutral trustee.

7. Sam's estate plan evolved over the years, and its last iteration was influenced

13 by debt, tax avoidance, asset protection, and planning around Stan's divorce. Both Sam

14 and Todd were exposed to personal liabilities on substantial debts Sam had incurred.

15 Some of the estate documents were created in haste because of Sam's heart illness and

16 surgery in December, 2012. (Sam survived his heart illness and tragically died in a water

17 accident in 2013). Some of the 2012-13 estate planning documents are disorganized,

18 internally inconsistent, and complicated by notarial mischief or neglect. This Court was

19 particularly troubled by the notary's abdication of statutory responsibilities, which was an

20 influencing fact in the litigation Wendy pursued. Notaries are given great authority and

21 their actions induce reliance. The notary at issue fell below the statutory standards. This

22 finding alone warrants a substantial financial consequence upon the trust, which this

23 Court includes in its analysis of the no-contest penalty and attorneys' fees requests.

8. Todd's participation in Sam's estate beginning in 2012 can be viewed

25 through two opposing lenses: he was either a disconnected participant who yielded to his

12

24

26

27 4 This Court understands jury instruction no. 11, which does not alter the fact that Todd struggled under the
shadow of his father's business acumen. The dynamic of Todd relying on professionals regarding the

28 accountings, while the professionals provided accountings with disclaimers and hyphens, created
uncertainty (or at least the appearance of uncertainty) about transactions, values, and who was ultimately
responsible for acts and accountings of trust administration.

4



1 father's wishes, or he was a subtly strategic participant who enriched himself to the

2 detriment of his siblings. These opposing possibilities are relevant only to understand

3 how this dispute became so bitter. This Court is inclined to find Todd was the former

4 rather than the latter, but regardless, Stan and Wendy had cause to seek answers to

5 questions created by document anomalies, inadequate disclosures, and transactions

6 inuring to Todd's benefit.

9. This action began when Stan, Wendy, and Todd were opposed to each other.

8 The dispute was exacerbated by inadequate information and self-interested perspectives.

9 Some of the more personal allegations among siblings reveal a family influenced by

10 misperceptions and individual interests. Wendy was particularly personal in her

1 1 allegations, the worst of which were harassing, vexatious, and without factual basis. There

12 were at least seven lawyers zealously advocating for their clients, which further

13 entrenched the siblings against each other. The children chose litigation over compromise

14 to work through the complexities of Sam's estate and their disparate financial

15 circumstances. With more effortful disclosures, neutral access to information, and a little

16 sibling patience, they might have worked through the messiness of Sam's estate to reach a

17 non-litigation resolution. Instead, the children sued each other, with Todd and Stan

18 settling their dispute just days before the jury trial began. Despite the settlement, this

19 Court is aware of the allegations Stan made against Todd in his deposition and trial

20 testimony. The settlement does not extinguish Stan's pleading allegations and

21 testimony — it merely reflects Todd and Stan's strategic and well-advised decision to

22 compromise their claims before trial. The settlement worked to Wendy's trial detriment,

23 yet she chose trial over settlement and must now accept the consequences of her choice.

24 Stan's allegations and testimony are relevant to contextualize the legal and equitable

25 claims, particularly the request to impose a no-contest penalty and for attorneys' fees

7

26 under NRS Chapter 18 and NRCP 68.

10. Todd and Stan contend they made every effort to avoid litigation but could

28 not persuade Wendy or her attorneys to choose compromise over conflict. This is mostly

27

5



1 accurate, as Wendy's litigation position and trial demand were influenced more by animus

2 and avarice than by a desire for balanced justice. In particular, Wendy's $80 million jury

3 demand revealed her overreach. However, Wendy's litigation zeal does not extinguish

4 her probable cause to seek answers and formulate claims based upon the information she

5 had at the time — the same information that led to Stan's allegations against Todd.

11. Throughout trial this Court reflected upon how Sam would respond if he

7 observed his children spending millions of dollars litigating his estate. The parties

repeatedly invited this Court to consider Sam's testamentary intentions. Responding to

9 that invitation, this Court has wondered how Sam would react to see his estate

10 disproportionally allocated among his children. There is no way to know how or if Sam

1 1 would have enlarged Wendy's beneficial interests if he survived the economic recovery.

12 Sam loved Wendy despite her issues, and this Court suspects Sam would have continued

13 his pattern of lifetime largesse in favor of his troubled daughter. But suspicion and

14 speculation are beyond this Court's authority. Death arrives at its own inconvenient time

15 and none can alter its consequences. Wendy is simply without her paternal benefactor and

16 is susceptible to the trustees' actions as governed by documents and transactions Sam

1 7 approved during his life.

12. The trustees' initial petitions were predicated upon accountings that

19 provided inadequate information. The accountings were untimely, and even if technically

20 compliant with the statutes, they failed to provide full and fair notice to Wendy as a

21 beneficiary. This Court acknowledges the trustees attempted to answer Wendy's

22 questions by making their CPA and lawyers available to Wendy, but there is only

23 marginal evidence in the record the trustees invested their own personal efforts to satisfy

24 Wendy's concerns. At some point the trustees' responses became form over function.

25 Todd particularly grew weary of Wendy, which affected his neutral trusteeship, as

26 illustrated by his hope to satisfy Wendy's beneficial interests at a discount that inured to

27 his benefit. In response, Wendy initiated scorched-earth litigation grounded in

28 entitlement and limited self-awareness. This Court cannot now alter the consequences of

6

8

18

6



1 the trust administration and litigation choices that precede this order.

13. Wendy's legal and equitable claims are grounded in the same common facts

3 and are exceedingly difficult to segregate. As this Court reviewed the hundreds of pages

4 of written arguments relating to the equitable claims, it was taken back to the evidence

5 and arguments presented to the jury. Through the misty fog of painfully voluminous

6 allegations and varied claims, the core of Wendy's complaint is that Todd breached his

7 fiduciary duties by self-dealing and failing to disclose information relevant to Wendy as a

8 beneficiary. No matter how Wendy frames or argues her equitable claims, she asks this

9 Court to remedy the identical facts and transactions she placed before the jury. This Court

10 must look to the substance of the claims, not just the labels used in the pleading document.

2

1 1 Nev. Power Co. v. District Court, 120 Nev. 948, 960, 102 P.3d 578, 586 (2004).

14. The complexity of Sam's estate warranted extraordinary disclosures,

13 explanations, and compliance with discovery rules. There were significant discovery

14 disputes, such that this Court created a schedule for recurring access to the Discovery

15 Commissioner. This Court also ordered the production of disputed discovery. Discovery

16 continued to the very eve of trial and Wendy was still attempting to discern her beneficial

17 interests when trial began.

15. There were several sports references and metaphors argued to the jury.

19 Consistent with that theme, Wendy "swung for the fences" when she asked the jury to

20 award $80 million to her (plus punitive damages), an amount that exceeds the evidentiary

21 value of this estate and would deprive Todd and Stan of any beneficial interests. She now

22 seeks a "mulligan" by re-arguing to this Court what was over-argued to the jury.5 The

23 jury found that Todd breached his fiduciary duties but only awarded $15,000 to Wendy. It

24 found against Wendy on all other claims and against all other counter-respondents. This

25 Court may have been authorized to award additional equitable relief upon the same facts

12

18

26

27
5 To illustrate, Wendy argued in her omnibus opposition to the cost memoranda filed before the equitable

28 claims trial that "damages may still be awarded, transactions may be set-aside, further breaches of fiduciary
duty may be found, and the ACPAs and other documents may be found fraudulent or invalid, ab initio."

These were all claims and requests rejected by the jury.

7



1 if the jury found for Wendy on more claims and against more counter-respondents. But

2 constitutional and decisional authorities prevent this Court from entering a subsequent

3 order diluting or altering the jury's verdict.

16. Todd asks this Court to contextualize the $15,000 as a de minimis award. This

5 Court will not infuse qualitative meaning into the jury's verdict. To do so would be

6 impermissible speculation. Todd breached his fiduciary duties to Wendy. And Wendy

7 was not awarded the damages she sought. These two facts are integral to this Court's

8 resolution of equitable claims and fees requests.

General Legal References

1. This Court cannot supplant or alter a jury's verdict by relying upon common

1 1 facts to reach a different outcome. See generally Lehrer McGovern Bovis, Inc. v. Bullock

12 Insulation, Inc., 124 Nev. 1102, 197 P.3d 1032, 1038 (2008) (discussing special interrogatory

13 verdicts). In Acosta v. City of Costa Mesa, 718 F.3d 800 (9th Cir. 2013), the plaintiff

14 submitted his equitable claim for declaratory relief to the bench after the jury rejected his

15 legal claims. The court held "it would be a violation of the Seventh Amendment right to

16 jury trial for the court to disregard a jury's findings of fact. Thus, in a case where legal

17 claims are tried by a jury and equitable claims are tried by a judge, and the claims are

18 based on the same facts, in deciding the equitable claims, the Seventh Amendment

19 requires the trial judge to follow the jury's implicit or explicit factual determinations." Id.

20 at 828-29 (citations omitted).

4

9

10

In Sturgis Motorcycle Rally, Inc. v. Rushmore Photo & Gifts, Inc., 908 F.3d

22 313, 343 (8th Cir. 2018), the jury found for the plaintiff on legal intellectual property claims,

23 but the bench subsequently applied the equitable defenses of laches and acquiescence.

24 The appellate court reversed, holding "[t]o bind the district court's equitable powers, a

25 jury's findings must be on an issue 'common' to the action's legal and equitable claims;

26 otherwise, the court is free to treat the jury's findings as 'merely advisory' . . . ." Id.

27 Further, " [i]f the jury's findings were on a common issue, the court, in fashioning equitable

28 relief, may take into account facts that were not determined by the jury, but it may not

2.21

8



1 base its decision on factual findings that conflict with the jury's findings." Id. at 344

2 (citations omitted); see also Haynes Trane Serv. Agency, Inc. v. Am. Standard, Inc., 573

3 F.3d 947, 959 (10th Cir. 2009) (noting a court cannot grant equitable relief on facts rejected

4 explicitly or implicitly by a jury verdict); Avitia v. Metro Club of Chicago., Inc., 49 F.3d

5 1219, 1231 (7th Cir. 1995) ("[A] judge who makes equitable determinations in a case in

6 which the plaintiff's legal claims have been tried to a jury is bound by any factual findings

7 made or inescapably implied by the jury's verdict.").

3. Among prescribed form and content, an accounting must provide a

9 beneficiary with the ability to evaluate his or her interests. NRS 165.135(3). See also NRS

10 153.041. The cost of preparing an accounting is presumptively borne by the trust. NRS

1 1 165.1214(5). Unless acting in good faith, a trustee can be personally liable for failing to

12 provide an accounting. NRS 165.148. A beneficiary may petition the court to order a

13 trustee to perform his or her accounting duties. NRS 165.190. This Court may order a

14 trustee's compensation be reduced or forfeited, or enter other civil penalty, when a trustee

15 fails to perform his duties. NRS 165.200.

4. The trustees' just and reasonable expenses are presumptively governed by

1 7 the trust instruments and borne by the trust. However, this Court has authority to review

18 and settle the trustees' expenses and compensation. NRS 153.070. This Court may also

19 reduce a trustee's compensation or order a trustee to pay a beneficiary's reasonable

20 attorneys' fees and costs when the beneficiary compels redress for a breach of trust or

21 compliance with trust terms. NRS 153.031(3). See also In re Estate of Anderson, No.

8

16

22 58227, 2012 WL4846488 (Oct. 9, 2012). This Court may order the trust expenses defending

23 against a beneficiary's successful claims be borne by a trustee individually. NRS 18.090.

24 See also Estate of Bowlds, 120 Nev. 990, 1,000, 102 P.3d 593, 600 (2004) (concluding

25 payment of attorney's fees from trust assets only when litigation generally benefits the

26 trust); NRS 153.031(3)(b) (stating if court grants relief to petitioner, it may order trustee to

27 pay fees and costs); Restatement (Third) of Trusts § 100 (2012) (examining denial of

28 compensation to breaching trustee).

9



1 5. NRS 163.00195 governs no-contest provisions. It begins by emphasizing this

2 Court's duty to enforce no-contest clauses to effectuate a settlor's intent. NRS 163.00195(1).

3 However, the statute then creates a wide exception when it provides a no-contest clause

4 must not be enforced when a beneficiary acts to enforce her legal rights, obtain court

5 instruction regarding proper administration, seeks to enforce the trustee's fiduciary duties,

6 or institutes and maintains a legal action in good faith and based on probable cause. NRS

7 163.00195(4). See also Matter of ATS 1998 Tr., No. 68748, 2017 WL3222533, at *4 ("[T]he

8 purpose of a no-contest clause is to enforce the settlor(s)' wishes, not to discourage a

9 beneficiary from seeking his or her rights."). A legal action is based on probable cause

19 when the facts and circumstances available to the beneficiary, or a properly informed and

1 1 advised reasonable person, "would conclude that the trust, the transfer of property into

12 the trust, any document referenced in or affected by the trust or any other trust-related

13 instrument is invalid." NRS 163.00195(4)(e) (emphasis added).

A trustee has a duty to act impartially, based on what is fair and reasonable

15 to all beneficiaries. Specifically, "the trustee shall act impartially in investing and

16 managing the trust property, taking into account any differing interests of the

17 beneficiaries." NRS 164.720(1). " [I] t is the trustee's duty, reasonably and without personal

18 bias, to seek to ascertain and to give effect to the rights and priorities of the various

19 beneficiaries or purposes as expressed or implied by the terms of the trust." RESTATEMENT

6.14

20 (Third) of Trusts § 79 (2007).

"In all matters connected with [the] trust, a trustee is bound to act in the

22 highest good faith toward all beneficiaries and may not obtain any advantage over the

23 latter by the slightest misrepresentation, concealment, threat, or adverse pressure of any

7.21

24 kind." Charleson v. Hardestv, 108 Nev, 878, 882, 839 P.2d 1303, 1306 (1992) (quoting

25 Morales v. Field, 160 Cal.Rptr. 239, 244 (1980)).

This Court may remove a trustee for good cause, including breach of8.26

27 fiduciary duties. NRS 156.070; NRS 163.115; NRS 163.190; NRS 163.180; NRS 164.040(2);

28 see also Diotallevi v. Sierra Dev. Co., 95 Nev. 164, 591 P.2d 270 (1979) (explaining court has

10



1 "full equitable powers" to redress breach of trust). Removal may be appropriate when

2 there is significant animosity between the trustee and a beneficiary, such that it has the

3 potential to materially interfere with the proper administration of the trust. Acorn v.

4 Monecchi, 386 P.3d 739, 760 (Wyo. 2016) (explaining the relevant question is whether

5 "hostility, in combination with existing circumstances, materially interferes with the

6 administration of the trust or is likely to cause that result"); In re Estate of Stuchlik, 857

7 N.W.2d 57, 70 (Neb. 2014) (stating a trustee cannot act impartially when "influenced by . . .

8 animosity toward individual beneficiaries"); BOGERT, LAW OF TRUSTS AND TRUSTEES § 129

9 (3d rev. ed. 2019) (explaining where there is potential for a conflict of interest to arise from

10 the dual status of a trustee who is also a beneficiary, removal of the trustee may be

1 1 appropriate); see also Dennis v. R.I. Hosp. Trust Nat. Bank, 571 F. Supp. 623, 639 (D.R.I.

12 1983) (discussing removal may be appropriate when the court could expect "that future

13 Trust transactions will be scrutinized by the beneficiaries" as a result of lengthy and

14 antagonistic litigation). Additionally, conflict between the trustee and beneficiary may

15 form a basis for removal when personal contact or collaboration is required for the

16 administration of the trust. Blumenstiel v. Morris, 180 S.W.2d 107, 109 (Ark. 1944). "The

17 purpose of removing a trustee is not to inflict a penalty for past action, but to preserve

18 trust assets." Getty v. Getty, 205 Cal.App.3d 134, 140 (1988).

Attorney's fees are not allowed to a prevailing party absent a contract,

20 statute, or rule to the contrary. See Smith v. Crown Fin. Servs., Ill Nev. 277, 890 P.2d 769

21 (1995) (analyzing the American and English rules regarding attorney's fees and their

22 intersection with Nevada Law). NRS 18.010(2)(b) provides that this Court may award

23 attorney's fees when it finds a claim was brought or maintained without reasonable

24 ground, or to harass the prevailing party. Pursuant to NRCP 68(a), "[a]t any time more

25 than 21 days before trial, any party may serve an offer in writing to allow judgment to be

26 taken in accordance with its terms and conditions." If an offer is not accepted within the

27 prescribed time period, it will be considered rejected by the offeree. NRCP 68(e). If an

28 offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment, "the offeree must

9.19
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1 pay the offeror's post-offer costs and expenses, including . . . reasonable attorney fees, if

2 any be allowed, actually incurred by the offeror from the time of the offer." NRCP

3 68(f)(1)(B) (emphasis added).

4 10. "[T]he purpose of NRCP 68 is to encourage settlement . . . not to force

5 plaintiffs unfairly to forego legitimate claims." Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588, 668

6 P.2d 268, 274 (1983). To determine whether an award of fees is appropriate, a court must

7 consider and weigh the following factors: (1) whether the claim was brought in good faith;

8 (2) whether the offer of judgment was reasonable and in good faith in both its timing and

9 amount; (3) whether the decision to reject the offer and proceed to trial was grossly

10 unreasonable or in bad faith; and (4) whether the fees sought by the offeror are reasonable

1 1 and justified in amount.6 Beattie, 99 Nev. at 588-89, 668 P.2d at 274. No one Beattie factor

12 is outcome determinative, and each should be given appropriate consideration. Yamaha

13 Motor Co., USA v. Arnoult, 114 Nev. 233, 252 n.16, 955 P.2d 661, 673 n.16 (1998).

11. A proceeding concerning a trust "does not result in continuing supervisory

15 proceedings, and the administration of the trust must proceed expeditiously in a manner

16 consistent with the terms of the trust, without judicial intervention or the order, approval

17 or other action of any court, unless the jurisdiction of the court is [properly] invoked ... as

14

18 provided by other law." NRS 164.015(7).

Equitable Issues

The following equitable issues and arguments are before this Court:

1. Approval ofaccountings

The trustees ask this Court to settle, allow, and approve the Issue and Family Trust

23 accountings without further examination, to include approval of trustees' fees, attorneys'

19

20

21

22

24

25 6 When considering the fourth Beattie factor, the court must consider the Brunzell factors. See Shuette v.

Beazer Homes Holdings Corp.. 121 Nev. 837, 864-65, 124 P.3d 530, 548-49 (2005). These factors include the

following: "(1) the qualities of the advocate: his or her ability, training, education, experience, professional

27 standing, and skill; (2) the character of the work to be done: its difficulty, intricacy, importance, time and
skill required, the responsibility imposed and the prominence and character of the parties where they affect

28 the importance of litigation; (3) the work actually performed by the lawyer: the skill, time, and attention
given to the work; and (4) the result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were derived."

Brunzell v. Golden Gate NatT Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969).

12



1 fees, and payment of other professional fees and administrative expenses.7 Wendy

2 opposes and asks this Court to order the trustees to prepare statutory compliant

3 accountings that disclose assets, values, transactions, and other acts of trust

4 administration. Wendy further argues that if the amended accountings are untimely or

5 noncompliant, this Court should find and remedy the trustees' breach of fiduciary duties.

The timing and form of accountings are prescribed by statute. But an accounting is

7 more than a formulaic compilation of data. An accounting is given to provide notice. Just

8 as facts in controversy vary from case to case, an accounting must be adjusted as the trust

9 estate requires. The trusts before this Court are complex because of the multiple layers of

10 entity and fractional ownership. They are further complicated by fluid and often

1 1 unknown values. This Court generally agrees with Wendy that the accountings fail to

12 provide adequate notice because they reveal only a portion of Sam's complex affairs — they

13 are mere pieces in a much larger puzzle and are ineffective when only reviewed in

14 isolation.8 Instead, the accountings created confusion and engendered suspicion. The

15 trustees attempted to answer Wendy's questions informally and made their professionals

16 available to answer Wendy's questions. But the accountings should have included more

17 explanatory details. The best example of how the accountings failed to provide actual and

18 adequate notice occurred when Todd testified Wendy could expect to receive $4 million

19 from a variety of sources. While the trustees may have provided explanations through

20 accountants and settlement offers, Wendy's beneficial expectancy is not apparent from the

21 accountings or evidence of the trustees' pre-trial explanations.

However, this Court also notes that Wendy's complaints about the content and

23 general timing of the accountings were presented to the jury in the legal phase of trial and

24 are therefore facts common to the equitable claims. The jury presumably considered all

25 evidence when deliberating its verdict. The verdict is an express or implicit rejection of

6

22

26

27 7 The relevant accountings are for the Issue and Family Trusts (April, 2013 through December, 2017) and
Wendy's subtrust (2013 - 2016).

8 Wendy argues: "While in some circumstances, preparing and delivering accountings in the format
provided by NRS 165.135 may fully satisfy a fiduciary's requirement to account and fully disclose, that is not
and cannot be the case for these very complex trusts."

28
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1 Wendy's complaints about the accountings. Accordingly, this Court will not provide

2 equitable relief regarding the accountings, which were constructively approved and

3 confirmed by the jury's verdict. In so doing, this Court does not countenance the trustees'

4 arguments that all accountings and disclosures complied with Nevada law, to include

5 NRS 165.135(4)(a), which allows for a statement prepared by a CPA containing summaries

6 of the information required by NRS 165.135(1). This Court simply orders that all litigation

7 regarding the accountings in existence at the time of the jury trial must end.9 The nature of

8 the accountings influence this Court's decision regarding attorneys' fees and the no-

9 contest provisions of the trust.

Validity of the Agreements and Consents to Proposed Actions (ACPAs) and

Indemnification Agreements

Todd as trustee of the Issue Trust, and Todd and Michael Kimmel as co-trustees of

the Family Trust, ask this Court to ratify and approve the ACPAs, thus relieving them of

liability for actions reasonably taken in reliance upon them. They (and Todd individually)

also ask this Court to affirm the indemnification agreements. Wendy opposes and asks

this Court to invalidate the ACPAs and rescind any transactions accomplished through

them. She also contests Stan and Todd's indemnification agreements and asks that any

transactions accomplished through them be invalidated and set aside. Each party presents
1 8

substantial arguments supporting their respective positions. This Court again returns to

10 2.

11

12

19

the scope and content of the jury trial and the facts common to legal and equitable claims.

While the attorneys argued to the jury that this Court would decide the validity of the

ACPAs and indemnification agreements, each of the challenged documents and related

23 transactions were thoroughly presented and argued to the jury — including document

preparation, execution, and other formation irregularities. Thus, at least, the jury verdict is
24

an implicit rejection of Wendy's arguments.
25

Having considered all arguments, this Court concludes it will neither affirm nor
26

27

28 9 The trustees may wish to modify the form of future accountings to provide better notice and explanations
to the beneficiaries. Otherwise, they risk objections this Court may be inclined to grant, including an award
of attorney's fees.
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1 reject the ACPAs and indemnification agreements. They cannot be segregated from the

2 legal claims presented to the jury and now subsequently argued in support of equitable

3 relief. The jury constructively approved and affirmed the ACPAs and indemnification

4 agreements when it reached its verdict. The verdict prevents additional litigation and

5 precludes liability exposure for actions taken in reliance upon these documents. All claims

6 involving the disputed ACPAs and indemnification agreements shall end with the jury's

7 verdict. Nonetheless, the ACPAs and indemnification agreements also influence this

Court's decision regarding attorneys' fees and the no-contest provisions.

Violation of the no-contest provisions of the trusts

All trustees except Stan ask this Court to declare that Wendy violated the no-contest

1 1 provisions of the trusts when she initiated and maintained this litigation. Wendy opposes

12 and asks this Court to declare that Todd violated the no-contest provisions when he filed

13 the initial petition and later moved to dismiss her litigation. The trustees' request deserves

14 analysis, whereas Wendy's request is retaliatory and made with little legal basis or

1 5 support from the trust instruments.

Wendy sought to enforce her rights, obtain instructions, and remedy a breach of

17 fiduciary duties. The jury agreed that Todd breached his fiduciary duties. Further, based

18 upon the information she possessed, she had probable cause to seek invalidation of

19 transfers and other acts of trust administration. This Court must distinguish between the

20 existence of probable cause for initiating and maintaining this action with the manner in

21 which the probable cause was litigated. As noted elsewhere, Wendy and Stan had

22 probable cause to seek answers to questions raised by the accountings and other events of

23 trust administration. Thus, while Wendy's litigation zeal and overreaching jury demand

24 may implicate Sam's intention to disincentivize litigation, Wendy's legal actions were

25 authorized and do not create a bar to her beneficial rights.

Unjust enrichment and constructive trust

Wendy asks this Court to impress a constructive trust to cure unjust enrichment

28 caused by fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, and self-dealing. Todd, Stan, and the trustees

8

9 3.

10

16

4.26

27
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1 make several arguments in opposition to Wendy's request. This Court disagrees with

2 Wendy's position. Wendy's allegations of misconduct, document impropriety, and self-

3 dealing underlying her request for equitable relief are inseparable from the legal claims

4 she presented to the jury. Wendy has been awarded damages for Todd's breach of

5 fiduciary duties. Any other equitable relief would constitute double recovery and alter the

6 jury's verdict in violation of the Seventh Amendment and its interpretative decisions.

Removal of trustees

Disgorgement of trustee fees

Use of trust funds to initiate petition and defend against Wendy's counterpetition

Award ofattorneys' fees

Wendy relies upon her same arguments when asking this Court to remove the

1 1 trustees, order the trustees to disgorge trustee fees, and deny the use of trust funds to

12 present their petitions and defend against her counterpetition. The parties present

13 substantial authorities and arguments (and other moving papers) relating to attorneys'

14 fees.

7 5.

8

9

10

There is no basis to consider the removal of any trustee except Todd. The two bases

16 to remove Todd are 1) the jury's verdict that Todd breached his fiduciary duties, and 2)

17 this Court's observation that Todd's neutrality is conflicted by his own interests and

18 animus towards Wendy. This Court concludes removal would be unjust and

19 incommensurate for several reasons: 1) Todd is Sam's designated and preferred trustee, 2)

20 other trustees will diffuse Todd's conflicts and reduce the personal contact between Todd

21 and Wendy, 3) the remedy against Todd's breaches and conflicts are made through other

22 orders regarding attorneys' fees, disgorgement of trustee's fees, and inapplicability of the

23 no-contest provisions, 4) Todd's own affairs are inseparable from trust administration and

24 his removal as trustee will not sever him from trust business; he will remain involved in

25 Jaksick family affairs through his ongoing management and ownership of several other

26 related entities, 5) the expenses of removing Todd and educating a successor trustee

27 would be expensive and inefficient, and 6) Wendy's suggestion that a commercial trustee

28 serve as successor trustee for all trustees is neither warranted nor workable.

However, based upon the jury's verdict that Todd breached his fiduciary duties

15
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1 (and secondarily, this Court's findings about the timing and content of the accountings),

2 this Court grants Wendy's request that Todd disgorge or disclaim all trustee's fees from

3 the inception of his trusteeship through the date when final judgment is entered. The

4 amount disgorged or otherwise forfeited may serve as an offset against the 25% of

5 trustees' attorneys' fees Todd is ordered to pay, as set forth below. This Court confirms

6 trustee fees to all other trustees.

There are several requests regarding attorney's fees as a trust expense. This Court's

8 discretionary resolution of the fees requests is bound by all facts of record and influenced

9 by the entirety of the pre-trial, legal, and equitable proceedings (including the settlement

10 agreement between Todd and Stan) and uncertainties created by notarial malfeasance.

This Court first orders that Stan Jaksick and Michael Kimmel's attorneys' fees be

12 chargeable to the trust and paid from trust corpus. This Court's decision regarding

13 Wendy and Todd's fees (both as trustee and individually) are more complicated. There

14 are competing facts and legal principles, which this Court analyzes in the aggregate and

15 not in isolation. In particular, the NRCP 68 request cannot be considered narrowly, but

16 instead, must be viewed by a totality of the case proceedings and statutory authorities

17 governing trustees. There are several options before this Court:

Order the trust to pay all, some, or none of Wendy's fees

because she successfully obtained a verdict that Todd breached

his fiduciary duties as trustee.

7

11

18

19

20

Order the trust to pay all, some, or none of the fees Todd

incurred as trustee because, even though he breached his

fiduciary duties, he qualitatively and quantitively prevailed

against other claims asserted by Wendy.

21

22

23

Order Wendy to pay fees Todd incurred because she brought

or maintained her action without reasonable grounds or to

harass.

24

25

26

Order Wendy to pay fees Todd incurred as trustee of the Issue

Trust because she rejected his $25,000 offer of judgment.27

28

Order Wendy to pay fees Todd incurred individually because

17



she rejected his $25,000 offer of judgment.

Discretionarily decline to order Wendy to pay fees pursuant to

the offers of judgment.

On August 29, 2018, Todd offered Wendy to have judgment entered against him

individually in the amount of $25,000. He also offered Wendy to have judgment entered

against him as trustee of the Issue Trust in the amount of $25,000. The jury did not make

any adverse findings against Todd individually, but it concluded Todd breached his

fiduciary duties as trustee and awarded $15,000 to Wendy. With adjustments for interest,

the amount Wendy will receive is almost indistinguishable from the $25,000 Todd offered

as trustee. To the extent there is a de minimis distinction, the difference is not enough in a

dispute that incurred several million dollars of fees and involved tens of millions in

controversy.

10

12

13
An offer of judgment must be an authentic attempt to settle a dispute. The offer of

14
judgment benefit is not automatically conferred. Instead, this Court must carefully

15 analyze the offer and discretionarily apply it to the unique facts of each case. This Court
1 6

and counsel are familiar with the American Rule of attorneys' fees and discretionary

17
application of NRCP 68. This Court's discretion exists to encourage parties to convey

1 8
legitimate offers to resolve their disputes. Of course, judicial discretion is controversial to

19
those who are aggrieved, and it is unpredictable to all.

20
On one side, offers that are appropriate in time and amount will cause the non-

21
offering party to become realistic and engage in genuine risk/benefit analyses. These

22
offers shift a calculated risk as trial approaches. To be an effective mechanism to resolve

23
disputes before trial, they should be in an amount the non-offering party cannot decline in

24
good faith. Defendants who perceive no liability exposure chafe against making time- and

25
amount-appropriate offers because they resent the payment of any money to a party they

26
perceive will not prevail at trial. On the other side, offering parties sometimes make time-

27
and amount-inappropriate offers they expect to be rejected. These offers do not facilitate

28
settlement—they are strategic devices to shift the risk of fees by offering illusory

18



1 consideration to end litigation.

This Court's discretion is guided by the unique facts and procedural history of this

3 case. This Court analyzes the Beattie factors as follows:

Whether Wendy's claims were brought in goodfaith? Wendy believed in good faith that

5 she suffered damages from Todd's individual and fiduciary misconduct. She trusted the

6 court system and exercised her constitutional right to jury trial. This Court concludes that

7 Wendy's claims against Todd as trustee of the Issue Trust were brought in good faith.

8 Wendy's concerns are countenanced, in large part, by the questions raised by the

9 accountings, Stan's separate allegations against Todd, document anomalies, and the optics

10 of Todd's disproportionate benefit from Sam's business and trust affairs. The good-faith

1 1 nature of Wendy's claims against Todd individually are more difficult to discern. In the

12 final analysis, Wendy had some cause to initiate the claims against Todd individually, but

13 as discovery progressed, Wendy's cause to pursue Todd individually diminished. This

14 factor weighs slightly in Wendy's favor regarding the Issue Trust offer of judgment and is

1 5 neutral regarding Todd's individual offer of judgment.10

Whether Todd's offers were reasonable and in good faith in both timing and amount? This

17 Court has wrestled with the question of whether the offers of judgment were brought in

18 good faith in both timing and amount. These offers of judgment were made six months

19 after Wendy filed her amended counter-petition, when discovery was still in its infancy.

20 This Court concludes the amounts offered were neither good faith/ reasonable nor

21 strategic bad faith/unreasonable. They fall within the continuum between those two

22 categories. Todd knew, or should have known, the fees incurred through continuing

23 litigation alone would substantially overshadow the offered amounts. Todd knew, or

24 should have known, that Wendy would never accept $25,000 to resolve her claims against

25 him as trustee of the Issue Trust.

However, Todd also had cause to believe he would prevail at trial, a fact now

2

4

16

26

27

28
10 Because this Court finds Wendy brought her claims in good faith, this Court concludes fees under NRS
18.010(2)(b) are not warranted.
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1 proven with respect to the claims against him individually. Todd's subjective belief about

2 the strength of his position is legally relevant. "[WJhere the offeror has a reasonable basis

3 to believe that exposure to liability is minimal, a nominal offer is appropriate." Arrowood

4 Indem. Co. v. Acosta, Inc., 58 So. 3d 286, 289 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2011) (discussing the good

5 faith prong of an offer of judgment from a Florida statute analogous to NRCP 68). At the

6 time Todd made his individual offer, Wendy had been unable to present coherent facts

7 underlying her claims against him personally. Fie therefore had reason to believe

8 Wendy's claims against him individually were weak or lacked merit. See Beach, 958 F.

9 Supp. at 1171 (holding defendant's offer was reasonable even though plaintiff's alleged

10 damages exceeded the offer's amount "given the weaknesses defendant perceived in

1 "I plaintiff's case."); see also Scott-Flop v. Bassek, Nos. 60501, 61943, 2014 WL 859181 at *6

12 (Feb. 28, 2014) (holding reasonable an offer of $25,000 even though plaintiff's alleged

13 medical expenses were over $150,000 because of the uncertainty of plaintiff's case and

14 defendant's summary judgment motion); Max Bear Productions, Ltd. v. Riverwood

1 5 Partners, LLC, No. 3:09-CV-00512-RCJ-RAM, 2012 WL 5944767 (D. Nev. Nov. 26, 2012)

16 ("The token $1,000 offer may appear to have been made simply for the procedural purpose

1 7 of preserving rights to fees . . . should Defendant win a judgment. Flowever, the

18 weaknesses of Plaintiff's case made this token offer reasonable."); Arrowood, 58 So. 3d at

19 289-90 (holding a court is required to consider an offeror's subjective belief that an offer is

20 reasonable and not just objective factors).

This Court concludes the second factor to consider is neutral regarding the Issue

22 Trust and does not inure to any party's favor or disfavor. Todd hoped he would prevail at

23 trial, but given the financial and documentary complexity, discovery delays and disputes

24 (including Todd's continued depositions long after the offers of judgment were made), the

25 untimely accountings, incomplete discovery, and the amounts in controversy, the offer

26 does not appear to be made with the good-faith intention of settling Wendy's claims. In

27 contrast, Todd's offer to settle Wendy's claims against him individually for the payment of

28 $25,000 appears more reflective of the circumstances and was made with a good-faith

21
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1 intention to settle the claims. Thus, this factor favors Todd individually.

Whether Wendy's decision to reject the offer and -proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable

3 or in badfaith? Wendy's decision to reject Todd's offer as trustee of the Issue Trust was not

4 grossly unreasonable or in bad faith. The offer arrived early in discovery. Wendy had

5 incurred substantially more in fees than the offered amount and she was entitled to

6 examine her legal position after discovery was received. In contrast, her decision to reject

7 Todd's individual offer is less reasonable, yet this Court cannot conclude her rejection was

8 grossly unreasonable or made in bad faith. Her decision was simply unwise in retrospect

9 and she cannot now be relieved of its consequences. This third factor weighs in favor of

10 Wendy regarding the Issue Trust and is neutral regarding Todd's personal liability.

Whether the fees sought are reasonable and justified in amount? Todd's individual and

12 trustee attorneys are experienced in law and trial. They have exemplary records of service

13 in our legal community and they obtained a positive outcome for their clients. After

14 considering each of the Brunzell factors, this Court finds the fees sought by Todd

15 individually from the date of the offer are reasonable in light of his experienced and

16 effective attorneys, duration and scope of litigation, and the result obtained. However,

17 the aggregate fees this Court expects Todd to seek as trustee of the Issue Trust are not

18 justified when the offered $25,000 is compared to the jury verdict. Shifting substantial

19 attorneys' fees to Wendy is unjustified in this instance. Regarding Todd's individual fees,

20 the amounts are reasonable and justified when charged against Wendy. This factor is

21 neutral with respect to the Issue Trustee offer and favors Todd with respect to his

22 individual offer of judgment.

For these reasons, this Court orders as follows:

The trusts shall pay 100% of the fees incurred by their attorneys in

representation of the trustees. However, Todd shall reimburse the

trusts from his personal resources for 25% of the amount paid because

the jury determined he breached his fiduciary duties. Provided,

however, Todd is entitled to reduce this 25% personal obligation by

2

11

23

24 a.

25

26

27

28
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1 the amount of trustee's fees he is ordered to disgorge.

Wendy is not required to pay fees Todd incurred as trustee because

she rejected the $25,000 offer of judgment.

Wendy shall pay 100% of fees Todd incurred individually from the

date the offer of judgment was made. Provided, however, Todd shall

be Wendy's judgment creditor and have no greater access to payment

than any other judgment creditor. Todd may attach or anticipate

Wendy's distributive share only if there are no spendthrift provisions

within the trust instruments that prohibit such creditor collection

efforts. If such spendthrift provisions exist, distributions shall be

made to Wendy and Todd may seek collection efforts against Wendy

personally, subsequent to the distribution. The trustees (including

Todd) shall carefully measure Todd's rights as an individual

judgment creditor with their fiduciary duties owed to Wendy as a

beneficiary.

The Trusts shall pay a combined attorneys' fee of $300,000 to Wendy's

attorneys for prevailing in the claim against Todd for breach of

fiduciary duties. This payment shall be made directly to Wendy's

attorneys without Wendy's signatory participation as a client or trust

beneficiary.

All fees ordered shall be treated as general trust administration

expenses and not allocated to any beneficiary's distributive share.

Todd is not required to indemnify the trust for the $300,000 payable to

Wendy's attorneys because he is already ordered to pay 25% of the

aggregate fees incurred in representation of the trustees.

The request for oral arguments is denied.

Other Issues

Second supplement to first amended counterpetition

2 b.

3

4 C.

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

d.16

17

18

19

20

21 e.

22

f.23

24

25

26 g-

27

1.28
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1 On May 9, 2019 (after the legal phase of trial but before the equitable trial), Wendy

2 filed a Second Supplement to her First Amended Counterpetition in which she continued

3 her theme about untimely accountings. Wendy asks this Court to consider the new fact

4 allegation the Family Trust co-trustees failed to prepare and deliver accountings for the

5 Family Trust and Wendy Subtrust for the period from January 1, 2018, to December 31,

6 2018. She requests the production and delivery of these accountings and asks that the

7 trustees be sanctioned. The trustees (including Todd and Stan individually) moved to

8 strike Wendy's supplement because it was filed after the August 2, 2018, deadline to file

9 motions to amend pleadings and violated NRCP 15(d).11 The 2018 accountings were

10 provided to Wendy in early July, 2019, thus rendering Wendy's request to compel moot.

It appears the accountings were untimely and this Court agrees Wendy could not

12 have filed the supplement until after the deadline for providing the 2018 accountings had

13 passed. Flowever, the 2018 accountings are not part of the underlying litigation. This

14 Court declines Wendy's invitation to enlarge this litigation to satisfy judicial economy.

15 This litigation is bounded by the pleadings and cannot remain an open receptacle to

16 receive real-time allegations of inappropriate trust administration. The supplement is

1 7 stricken as beyond the scope of claims before this Court. Wendy may file a separate action

18 challenging the timing and content of the 2018 accountings if she is so inclined. This Court

19 neither encourages nor discourages such litigation.

The Lake Tahoe property

Though not placed within a certain claim for relief within her pleadings, Wendy

22 asks this Court to rescind all transactions involving the Lake Tahoe home and restore title

23 to the SSJ LLC, which was 100% owned by the Family Trust. Wendy continues to

24 overwhelm this Court with repetitive and lengthy arguments about the option

25 agreements, forgery, fraud, fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, trustor intentions,

26 consideration, etc. All of Wendy's arguments were presented to the jury and rejected in

11

2.20

21

27

28
11 Stan filed an additional Motion to Dismiss or Motion to Strike, arguing Wendy's supplement alleged a

new claim for breach of fiduciary duty that has not been discovered. Todd joined in Stan's motion.
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1 the jury's verdict. This Court will not enter any order granting relief to Wendy regarding

2 the Lake Tahoe home.

3 Future distributions

4 On July 23, 2019, Wendy filed an Emergency Motion to Compel Distribution from

5 the Family Trust. She alleged she was being evicted from her home in Texas and needed

6 money to relocate to either Arizona or Reno. Wendy asked this Court to order the trustees

7 of the Family Trust to distribute $6,000 for a deposit on a new apartment and $5,000 per

8 month for living expenses. Wendy further asks this Court to advise the trustees regarding

9 the schedule of other distributions for living expenses. Wendy's motion is denied. This

10 Court will not supervise trust administration on an ongoing basis. It will not provide

1 1 advisory guidance or otherwise order the trustees regarding administration and

12 distributions. Instead, it will adjudicate disputes through normal judicial processes.

13 Wendy may initiate separate litigation if she is so inclined.

Costs.

Todd Jaksick as an individual, Duck Lake Ranch, LLC, and Incline TSS, are the

16 prevailing parties entitled to statutory and reasonable costs. All other parties may file cost

17 memoranda as authorized by law.

3.

14 4.

15

Conclusions

This Court does not confirm the accountings. However, the substance of the

20 accountings were presented to the jury and fall within the jury's verdict. Thus, this Court

21 will not allow additional litigation as to any accounting that formed the basis for Wendy's

22 legal claims. All future accountings shall be timely and formulated to provide the

23 beneficiaries with adequate notice of values, transactions, and other acts of trust

24 administration. The trustees are authorized to pay, at Wendy's request, a portion of

25 Wendy's distributive shares to Wendy's designated financial professional who will assist

26 her to understand the accountings and interact with the trustees.

This Court does not confirm the ACPAs or indemnification agreements.

28 However, the substance of the ACPAs and indemnification agreements were presented to

18

1.19

2.27
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1 the jury and fall within the jury's verdict. This Court will not allow additional litigation as

2 to any of the ACPAs and indemnification agreements that formed the basis for Wendy's

3 legal claims.

3. The trustees' request to impose no-contest penalties against Wendy is4

5 denied.

Wendy's claims for unjust enrichment and constructive trust are denied.

Todd is confirmed as trustee of Issue Trust and co-trustee of Family Trust.

All other trustees are also confirmed.

Todd shall disgorge all trustee fees he received or otherwise earned, subject

6 4.

7 5.

8

9 6.

10 to the fees award provisions.

7. This Court anticipates the parties will seek clarification and other relief

12 through additional motion work. The attorneys' fees provisions in this order reflect the

13 entirety of this Court's intentions regarding fees. This order also reflects the entirety of

14 this Court's intentions regarding all other pending matters.

8. Todd and the trustees may submit a proposed judgment consistent with the

16 jury's verdict and this order on equitable claims.

11

15

IT IS SO ORDERED.17

Dated: March I 2020.18

19

\ Ai20

'avid A. Hardy
21

District Court Judge
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